

University of South Florida Scholar Commons

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

3-13-2008

Characterization of Risk From Airborne Benzene Exposure in the State of Florida

Giffe Johnson University of South Florida

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.usf.edu/etd Part of the <u>American Studies Commons</u>

Scholar Commons Citation

Johnson, Giffe, "Characterization of Risk From Airborne Benzene Exposure in the State of Florida" (2008). *Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. https://scholarcommons.usf.edu/etd/320

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact scholarcommons@usf.edu.



Characterization of Risk From Airborne Benzene Exposure in the State of Florida

by

Giffe Johnson

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy Department of Environmental and Occupational Health College of Public Health University of South Florida

Major Professor: Raymond D. Harbison, Ph.D. Steven P. Mlynarek, Ph.D. Skai W. Schwartz, Ph.D. M. Rony Francois, Ph.D.

> Date of Approval: March 13, 2008

Keywords: risk assessment, air toxics, leukemia, carcinogenesis, cancer threshold

© Copyright 2008, Giffe Johnson



DEDICATION

To my loving wife, whose support, professional competence, and persistent nagging greatly facilitated the completion of this dissertation.



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Support for this project came from the Center for Environmental/Occupational Risk Analysis and Management. All exposure data associated with this study were provided by the United States Environmental Protection Agency.

I would like to acknowledge Stephen Casey Harbison for his assistance with the regulatory risk assessment aspects of this research.

Specials thanks should be offered to Dr. Raymond Harbison. Without his wisdom and guidance, this dissertation, and my career as a researcher would not have been possible.

Additional acknowledgment goes to my Doctoral Committee, Dr. Steven Mlynarek, Dr. M. Rony Francois, and Dr. Skai W. Schwartz for their support and suggestions while conducting this research.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables	iii
List of Figures	vi
List of Acronyms and Abbreviations	ix
Abstract	X
Chapter 1.0: Introduction	1
1.1 Overview of Benzene Related Health Research	1
1.2 Non-Carcinogenic Benzene Toxicity	2
1.2.1 Acute Lethality	2
1.2.2 Respiratory Toxicity	2
1.2.3 Dermal Toxicity	3
1.2.4 Neurological Toxcity	3
1 2 5 Reproductive Toxicity	3
1.2.6 Hematological Toxicity	4
1.3 Benzene as a Carcinogen	5
1.3.1 Benzene Metabolism	5
1.3.2 Mechanism of Action	7
1.4 Environmental Benzene Exposure	9
1.5 Research Objectives	11
Chapter 2.0: Research Methods	13
2.1 Monitor Site Descriptions	13
2.2 Data Collection	20
2.3 Assigning Values to Measurements Below the Method Detection Limit	20
2.4 USEPA Risk Analysis	21
2.5 Comparative Analysis	22
Chapter 3.0: Results	25
3.1 Descriptive Statistics	25
3.2 Comparative Statistics for the Different Methods of Assigning Values to	
Measurements Below the MDL	31
3.3 The Calculation of the 95% UCL-AMs using ProUCL	33
3.4 Risk Analysis	40
3.5 Cumulative Lifetime Exposures in ppm-years	48
3.6 Comparative Risk Analysis with Occupational Cohorts	56



i

Chapter 4.0: Discussion	59
4.1 USEPA Risk Assessment for Benzene	59
4.2 Comparative Analysis	61
4.3 Statistical Considerations for the Method Detection Limit	73
4.4 Study Limitations	75
Chapter 5.0: Conclusions	
References	81
Appendix A	92
About the Author	



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Table 1: Summary Statistics for airborne benzene samples collected between January 2003 and December 2006 for all Broward County sampling sites.	26
Table 2	Table 2: Summary Statistics for airborne benzene samples collected between January 2003 and December 2006 for all Dade County sampling sites.	27
Table 3	Table 3: Summary Statistics for airborne benzene samples collected between January 2003 and December 2006 for all Duval County sampling sites.	g 28
Table 4	Summary Statistics for airborne benzene samples collected between January 2003 and December 2006 for all Hillsborough County sampling sites.	29
Table 5	Summary Statistics for airborne benzene samples collected between January 2003 and December 2006 for all Orange County sampling sites.	30
Table 6	Summary Statistics for airborne benzene samples collected between January 2003 and December 2006 for all Pinellas County sampling sites.	31
Table 7	The results of paired t-tests for each site in Broward County.	32
Table 8	The results of paired t-tests for each site in Dade County.	32
Table 9	The results of paired t-tests for each site in Orange County.	32
Table 10	The 95% UCL-AMs for all measured airborne benzene concentrations in Broward County between 2003 and 2006 by Site.	33
Table 11	The 95% UCL-AMs for all measured airborne benzene concentrations in Dade County between 2003 and 2006 by Site.	34
Table 12	The 95% UCL-AMs for all measured airborne benzene concentrations in Duval County between 2003 and 2006 by Site.	35
Table 13	The 95% UCL-AMs for all measured airborne benzene concentrations in Hillsborough County between 2003 and 2006 by Site.	36



Table 14	The 95% UCL-AMs for all measured airborne benzene concentrations in Orange County between 2003 and 2006 by Site.	37
Table 15	The 95% UCL-AMs for all measured airborne benzene concentrations in Pinellas County between 2003 and 2006 by Site.	38
Table 16	Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Broward County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.	41
Table 17	Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Dade County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003to 2006.	g 42
Table 18	Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Duval County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.	43
Table 19	Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Hillsborough County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.	44
Table 20	Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Orange County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.	45
Table 21	Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Pinellas County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.	46
Table 22	Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Broward County by monitoring site.	49
Table 23	Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Dade County by monitoring site.	50
Table 24	Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Duval County by monitoring site.	51
Table 25	Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Hillsborough County by monitoring site.	52
Table 26	Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Hillsborough County by monitoring site.	53



iv

- Table 27Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Pinellas County by
monitoring site.54
- Table 28The No Observable Adverse Effect Levels (NOAEL) and the Lowest
Observable Adverse Effect Levels (LOAEL) for all studies used in the
comparative risk analysis.



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Benzene metabolic pathways.	7
Figure 2.	Benzene monitor locations and relevant benzene emission sources for Broward County.	14
Figure 3.	Benzene monitor locations and relevant benzene emission sources for Duval County.	15
Figure 4.	Benzene monitor locations and relevant benzene emission sources for Hillsborough County.	16
Figure 5.	Benzene monitor locations and relevant benzene emission sources for Dade County.	17
Figure 6.	Benzene monitor locations and relevant benzene emission sources for Orange County.	18
Figure 7.	Benzene monitor locations and relevant benzene emission sources for Pinellas County.	19
Figure 8.	Summary of the 95% UCL-AMs for Broward County monitoring sites for data collected from the years 2003 to 2006.	34
Figure 9.	Summary of the UCL-AMs for Dade County monitoring sites for data collected from the years 2003 to 2006.	35
Figure 10.	Summary of the UCL-AMs for Duval County monitoring sites for data collected from the years 2003 to 2006.	36
Figure 11.	Summary of the UCL-AMs for Hillsborough County monitoring sites for data collected from the years 2003 to 2006.	37
Figure 12.	Summary of the UCL-AMs for the Orange County monitoring site for dat collected from the years 2003 to 2006.	a 38
Figure 13.	Summary of the UCL-AMs for Pinellas County monitoring sites for data collected from the years 2003 to 2006.	39
Figure 14.	Summary of the UCL-AMs for all county monitoring sites for data	



	collected from the years 2003 to 2006.	40
Figure 15.	Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Broward County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.	43
Figure 16.	Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Dade County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.	44
Figure 17.	Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Duval County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.	45
Figure 18.	Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Hillsborough County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.	46
Figure 19.	Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Orange County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.	47
Figure 20.	Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Pinellas County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.	48
Figure 21.	Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for all counties, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.	49
Figure 22.	Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Broward County by monitoring site in ppm-years.	50
Figure 23.	Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Dade County by monitoring site in ppm-years.	51
Figure 24.	Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Duval County by monitoring site in ppm-years.	52
Figure 25.	Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Hillsborough county by monitoring site in ppm-years.	53
Figure 26.	Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Orange County by monitoring site in ppm-years.	54



vii

Figure 27	Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Pinellas County b	y
	monitoring site in ppm-years.	55

Figure 28. Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for all counties by monitoring site in ppm-years. 56



LIST OF ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

Acute Myelogenous Leukemia	AML
Arithmetic mean	AM
Florida Department of Environmental Protection	FLDEP
Inhalation Unit Risk	IUR
Integrated Risk Information System	IRIS
Method detection limit	MDL
Parts per billion	ppb
Parts per million	ppm
United States Environmental Protection Agency	USEPA
Upper confidence limit	UCL



Characterization of Risk From Airborne Benzene Exposure in the State of Florida

Giffe Johnson

ABSTRACT

Environmental airborne benzene is a ubiquitous hazardous air pollutant whose emissions are generated from multiple sources, including industrial emissions, fuel station emissions, and automobile emissions. Chronic occupational exposures to elevated levels of benzene are known to be associated with leukemic cancers, in particular, acute myeloid leukemia (AML), though epidemiological evidence regarding environmental exposures and subsequent AML developmentis lacking. This investigation uses historical airborne monitoring data from six counties in the State of Florida to characterize the environmental cancer risk from airborne benzene concentrations using current Federal and State regulatory analysis methodology, and a comparative analysis based on occupational epidemiological evidence. Airborne benzene concentrations were collected from 24 air toxics monitoring stations in Broward, Duval, Orange, Miami-Dade, Hillsborough, and Pinellas counties. From the years 2003 – 2006, 3,794 air samples were collected using 8, 12, and 24 hr samples with sub-ambient pressure canister collectors consistent with EPA benzene methodological protocols 101 and 176. Mean benzene concentrations, by site, ranged from 0.18 - 3.58 ppb. Using risk analysis methodology consistent with the EPA and the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FLDEP) the resulting cancer risk estimates ranged from 4.37×10^{-6} to 8.56×10^{-5} , exceeding the FLDEP's



Х

acceptable cancer risk level, $1 \ge 10^{-6}$ for all monitoring sites. The cumulative lifetime exposures were calculated in ppm-years by site, ranging from 0.036 - 0.702 ppm-years. A comparative analysis with available epidemiological literature revealed that associations between benzene exposure and cancer outcomes were related to cumulative lifetime exposures in great excess of 1 ppm-years. The results of this investigation indicate that it is not reasonable to expect additional cancer outcomes in Florida residents as a result of airborne benzene exposures consistent with measured concentrations, despite the fact that all regulatory risk calculations exceed acceptable cancer risk levels in the State of Florida.



Chapter 1.0: Introduction

1.1 Overview of Benzene Related Health Research

Concern over the health hazards of benzene exposure has existed since the early 20th century. Researchers began reporting acute toxicities from extremely high exposures (3,000 to 20,000 ppm) such as anesthesia, confusion, and death in the 1920's (1-3). Chronic toxicities began to be reported soon after, with hematologic toxicity being most noted in the suppression of red and white blood cells, exhibiting as pancytopenia and aplastic anemia (1-6). One of the first cases of leukemia reported to be associated with benzene exposure occurred in 1928, though the link between benzene exposure and leukemia was not firmly established until several decades later (7). The carcinogenic nature of benzene began to come into focus in the 1970s, when larger groups of exposed workers started to see inordinate numbers of leukemia cases (8-13). Goguel et al. 1967, Girard and Revol 1970, and Aksoy et al. 1972 reviewed several of the first case series that seemed to indicate a more specific relationship between excessive benzene exposures and acute myelogenous leukemia (AML) (14-16). Vigliani et al. 1964 and Askoy et al. 1974 made the first attempts to characterize the risk of benzene exposure and leukemia, but unfortunately lacked a sufficient exposure assessment to produce any reliable estimates (17-18). In the 1980s and 1990s, the attention focused on exposure to petroleum and chemical workers to more clearly assess specific levels of benzene exposure and the risk of leukemogenesis (7). As well, non-occupational exposures began to be explored in this time period,



www.manaraa.com

focusing on indoor air, tobacco usage, and self-service gasoline station benzene exposures (19-20). The focus of research in the 21st century undoubtedly lies in the pursuit of establishing a clear dose-response relationship between low level benzene exposures and leukemogenesis, in both occupational and environmental settings, in order to ascertain a level benzene exposure that will ensure the safety of workers, as well as the safety of the general population.

1.2.1 Acute Lethality

The inhalation LC50 value for rats has been determined to lie between 13,700 ppm and 16,000 ppm for a 4-hour exposure (21-22). Green et al. 1981 observed mice exposed by inhalation to doses of benzene up to 4,862 ppm, 6 hours/day for 5 days without lethality (23). Deaths in humans from acute benzene exposures are often poorly characterized, but it has been estimated that 5 to 10 minutes of exposure to 20,000 ppm is most likely fatal (24). The pathology in cases of lethal benzene exposures may be described by asphyxiation, respiratory arrest, central nervous system depression, suspected cardiac collapse, cyanosis, hemolysis, and congestion or hemorrhage of organs (25-28).

1.2.2 Respiratory Toxicity

Several adverse respiratory effects have been reported in humans after acute exposures to benzene vapors between 30 and 300 ppm for a period of several days or weeks in relatively higher exposures, or as long as a year for relatively lower exposures. These effects include mucous membrane irritation, dyspnea, nasal



irritation, and sore throat (25-30). In extremely high exposures that resulted in fatalities, pulmonary edema, acute granular tracheitis, laryngitis, bronchitis, and massive hemorrhaging have been observed (25-27).

1.2.3 Dermal Toxicity

Skin irritation has been noted at airborne occupational exposures of >60 ppm for up to 3 weeks as well as with extremely high acute exposures (25, 29).

1.2.4 Neurological Toxcity

At acute exposure levels between 300 and 3,000 ppm, neurological effects have been observed such as drowsiness, dizziness, headache, vertigo, tremor, delirium, and loss of consciousness (29, 31-33). There is some evidence of neurological toxicity from excessive chronic exposures (~200 ppm) in the form of global atrophy of lower extremities and distal neuropathy of upper extremities, though this is based on a limited number of cases and a crude estimation of exposure (34).

1.2.5 Reproductive Toxicity

There has been some suggestion that benzene exposure may lead to dysmenorrheal, disturbances in the menstrual cycle, and spontaneous abortion. Unfortunately, the research related to these possible effects does not have accurate exposure measurements and is plagued by confounding factors such as mixed chemical exposures (35-37).



1.2.6 Hematological Toxicity

Hematological effects from acute exposures have not been well established, but there is some evidence that indicates leukopenia, anemia, and thrombocytopenia may occur after more than 2 days of occupational exposure to more than 60 ppm benzene in a small portion of workers (29). Chronic exposures to benzene in excess of occupational regulatory levels (~ 10 ppm) for many years may result in pancytopenia, the reduction in the number of all three major types of blood cells: erythrocytes (red blood cells), thrombocytes (platelets), and leukocytes (white blood cells). Additionally, aplastic anemia may result, a more severe condition wherein the bone marrow ceases to function and the stem cells never reach maturity. Some research indicates that aplastic anemia may be a precursor to myelogenous leukemia (38-49).

There are several studies clearly indicating that high level chronic exposure is associated with hematological abnormalities. Askoy et al. 1971, 1972 found various increases in hematological abnormalities (leukopenia, thrombocytopenia, eosinophilia, pancytopenia, and hypoplastic, acellular, hyperplastic, or normoblastic bone marrow) with exposures estimated to be between 15 to >200 ppm (50-51). Dosemeci et al. 1996 found similar abnormalities when assessing rubber manufacturing workers with more accurately defined exposure estimates ranging from 5 to >40 ppm (52). At lower levels of chronic exposure (0.01 - 1.4 ppm), evidence indicates chronic benzene exposure does not produce hematological toxicity (53-55).



1.3 Benzene as a Carcinogen

As previously mentioned, benzene has been a suspected leukemogen, particularly the myeloid cell type, since the late 1920's, though the causal association between benzene and leukemia had not been confirmed until the 1970's. The carcinogenic nature of benzene, in terms of the specific mechanism of action has not been clearly established. An examination of benzene metabolism does provide some insight, however, for potential mechanisms by which the metabolites of benzene may function as carcinogens.

1.3.1 Benzene Metabolism

The metabolism of benzene in humans has been established primarily from studies using inhalation exposures. Benzene is excreted both unchanged through the lungs and as metabolites (as well as some unmetabolized benzene) in the urine. Metabolites are produced in the liver and carried to the bone marrow (though additional metabolism may occur in the marrow itself) where the greatest potential for benzene related toxicity exists. As illustrated in Figure 1, benzene metabolism is driven by cytochrome P-450 2E1 (CYP2E1) catalyzed oxidation to form benzene oxide (56-57). Several pathways are involved in the metabolism of benzene oxide, the predominant pathway being the nonenzymatic rearrangement to form phenol, the initial product of benzene metabolism of major importance regarding benzene toxicity (58-59). CYP2E1 also catalyzes the oxidation of phenol to catechol or hydroquinone, which are oxidized via myeloperoxidase (MPO) to the reactive metabolites 1,2- and 1,4benzoquinone, respectively and the reverse reaction (reduction of 1,2- and 1,4-



benzoquinone to catechol and hydroquinone, respectively) is catalyzed by NAD(P)H quinone oxidoreductase (NQ01). Both catechol and hydroquinone may be converted to the reactive metabolite 1,2,4-benzenetriol, again, by CYP2E1 catalysis. 1,2,4-benzenetriol is potentially the most toxic metabolite as a result of having a third reactive hydroxyl group (60).

However, as a minor pathway, benzene oxide may also undergo epoxide hydrolasecatalyzed conversion to benzene dihydrodiol and subsequent dihydrodiol dehydrogenase-catalyzed conversion to catechol (60-62). Each of the phenolic metabolites of benzene (phenol, catechol, hydroquinone, and 1,2,4-benzenetriol) can undergo sulfonic or glucuronic conjugation, the conjugates of phenol and hydroquinone being the major urinary metabolites of benzene (60, 63-65). Other minor metabolic pathways for benzene oxide that produce potentially less toxic metabolites include the reaction with glutathione (GSH) to form S-phenylmercapturic acid, and the iron catalyzed ring-opening conversion to trans,trans-muconic acid, possibly through the reactive trans,transmuconaldehyde intermediate (60, 66-75).







From the ATSDR Toxicological Profile on Benzene; originally adapted from Nebert et al. 2002 and Ross 2000 (11, 60, 67).

ADH = alcohol dehydrogenase; ALDH = aldehyde dehydrogenase; CYP2E1 = cytochrome P-450 2E1; DHDD = dihydrodiol dehydrogenase; EH = epoxide hydrolase; GSH = glutathione; MPO = myeloperoxidase; NQ01 = NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase

1.3.2 Mechanism of Action

Several animal studies have found compelling evidence that the genotoxicity exhibited in mice after benzene exposure is directly attributed to the metabolites of benzene rather than benzene itself. Valentine et al. 1996a, 1996b used transgenic knockout mice for the hepatic CYP2E1 gene, which prevents these mice from metabolizing benzene in the liver. After both transgenic mice and wild-type mice



were exposed to 200 ppm of benzene for 6 hours a day for 5 days, the genotoxicity observed in the wild-type mice was notably absent in the transgenic mice (76-77). Similar results have been found in other studies where Cytochrome P-450 enzyme inhibitors were used on wild type mice to inhibit benzene metabolism, which effectively attenuated benzene induced genotoxicity (78-81).

Several investigations suggest that the covalent binding of benzene metabolites to cellular macromolecules is related to benzene's mechanism of toxicity, specifically the formation of adducts with nucleic acids, but also with various proteins (82-90). The reactive metabolites that exhibit these binding properties and have been proposed as agents of benzene hematotoxic and leukemogenic effects include benzene oxide, reactive products of the phenol pathway (catechol, hydroquinone, 1,2,4-benzenetriol, and 1,4-benzoquinone). Smith 1996a, 1996b noted that the phenolic metabolites can also be metabolized by bone marrow peroxidases, such as myeloperoxidase, to highly reactive semiguinone radicals and quinones that stimulate the production of reactive oxygen species (91-92). All of these reactive metabolites are capable of damaging nuclear proteins and enzymes such as tubulin, histone proteins, topoisomerase II, other DNA associated proteins, as well as DNA itself in the form of strand breakage, mitotic recombination, chromosome translocations, and aneuploidy. Damage to stem or early progenitor cells could potentially be expressed as hematopoietic and leukemogenic effects (82-97).



As benzene toxicity is thought to be driven by metabolism, it is important to note that the available data collected on metabolic pathways is primarily garnered from animal studies. This being the case, it is imperative to examine interspecies differences in the metabolism of benzene. Firstly, species differences exist in absorption and retention of benzene. It has been observed that following 6-hour exposures to concentrations of 7–10 ppm of benzene vapors, mice retain 20% of the inhaled benzene, whereas rats and monkeys retain only 3-4% (98-99). Secondly, the rate of metabolism differs among various species. Mice have a greater overall capacity to metabolize benzene, compared to rats. It has been shown that an inhalation exposure to 925 ppm results in an internal dose of 152 mg/kg in mice, only 15% of which was excreted as unmetabolized benzene compared to an internal dose of 116 mg/kg in rats, approximately 50% of which was excreted unchanged (98, 100). As it is generally thought that humans more closely resemble mouse metabolic profiles compared to rats, a more conservative metabolic rate is used to estimate human metabolite production. As well, the more conservative absorption rate is used in the development of the inhalation unit risk, with the assumption that humans absorb and retain 50% of inhaled exposures (48).

1.4 Environmental Benzene Exposure

The USEPA Toxic Release Inventory (TRI) records indicates that 333,089 pounds of benzene were released into the environment in the State of Florida in the year 2005 (101). Of these emissions, 115 pounds were recorded as releases into surface water, and there was no amount of direct release into the soil reported. With the exception



of potential point source contamination of water and soil from accidental spillage that results in extremely high levels of benzene in those media, environmental airborne benzene represents the greatest potential for exposure to the general public.

Benzene is released into the atmosphere from both natural and industrial sources. Natural sources include crude oil seeps, forest fires, and plant volatiles (102-103). Major anthropogenic sources of benzene include automobile exhaust, automobile refueling operations, and industrial emissions. It has been estimated that environmental benzene emissions are highest in coke oven blast furnaces. However, other sources that significantly contribute to emissions of benzene include automobiles, petrochemical industries, waste water treatment plants, and petroleum industries. Personal exposures include fueling passenger automobiles and cigarette smoke. Cigarette smoke is the most important personal exposure in moderate to heavy long-term smokers as it represents a persistent chronic exposure and can contribute to indoor air pollution to the extent that indoor levels may become significantly higher than ambient levels. Smokers are known to have measurably higher levels of benzene in exhaled breath than non-smokers (104). The amount of benzene measured in mainstream smoke ranges from 5.9 to 73 μ g/cigarette. Larger amounts of benzene have been found in side-stream smoke, ranging from 345 to 653 μ g/cigarette (105). Vaporized benzene in the atmosphere may persist for a matter of hours to approximately a week, depending on the concentration of hydroxyl molecules present, which are the primary reactants involved in reducing airborne benzene concentrations (106-107).



1.5 Research Objectives

It is evident that the majority environmental emissions of benzene are airborne, and consequently, the greatest opportunity for exposure to the general public is through the inhalation. It is also generally accepted that the health risk of greatest concern from low level benzene exposures is cancer, specifically AML. As a result, the primary objectives of this risk characterization deal directly with the cancer risks that may potentially exist from ambient airborne concentrations of benzene.

Specifically, the objectives of the current research are as follows:

1. To characterize the ambient airborne benzene exposures in the State of Florida by analyzing data from air sample measurements collected at air toxics monitoring sites in the most populous counties from the years 2003 to 2006.

2. To characterize the cancer risk that may exist using the USEPA Risk Assessment for Carcinogens methodology from the measured benzene concentrations in this study.

3. To extrapolate the cumulative lifetime benzene exposure from the measured benzene exposures in this study.

4. To perform a comparative analysis between epidemiological studies evaluating cancer risk from cumulative lifetime benzene exposures to the cumulative lifetime exposures as indicated by the measured benzene exposures in this study.

5. To draw conclusions as to the health risk presented by the ambient airborne benzene exposures measured in this study.



The hypotheses to be tested in this research are the following:

 A regulatory risk analysis based on measured benzene concentrations will result in risk values in excess of the 1 x 10⁻⁶ acceptable risk level promulgated by the FLDEP;
Analysis of current epidemiological research will indicate that a threshold for benzene induced leukemogenesis is evident, and;

3. Cumulative exposures extrapolated from measured airborne benzene concentrations will be less than the evident threshold for benzene induced leukemogenesis.

المتسارات

Chapter 2.0: Research Methods

2.1 Monitor Site Descriptions

In the State of Florida, six counties have active air toxics monitoring programs. Within each county, there are varying numbers of monitors, in various locations in terms of their proximity to benzene emission sources. Figures 2-7 represent the locations of each monitor within each county, and their proximity to known benzene emission sources, with the largest contributors of benzene emissions labeled. To provide a sense of scale, and the potential influence of these emission sources on the monitors, a two mile radius encircles the monitor sites. In Broward County (Figure 2) the four active monitors fall primarily in Commercial and Residential areas, with all monitors being located within two miles of known benzene emission sources. Duval County (Figure 3) possesses more air toxic monitoring stations than any other county in the State of Florida, and in addition to the Residential and Commercial monitor categories, Duval County employs 23 monitors located near major highways and roadways which may be heavily influenced by fugitive mobile benzene emissions. Hillsborough County (Figure 4) has 3 active monitors in Commercial, Residential, and Rural areas. Two monitors in Dade County (Figure 5) are located in Rural and Commercial areas, respectively. Orange County (Figure 6) has a single active monitoring station located in a Commercial area, with close proximity to major roadways. Pinellas County (Figure 7) has 3 active monitor locations in Residential areas, though it should be noted at least two of the monitors are within a two mile



proximity of known benzene emission sites, Site #2 located within two miles of the

largest benzene emission site for that county.





Benzene monitor locations within Broward County, Florida. Each site is encircled by a 2 mile radius. Blue marks indicate known benzene emission sites; the highest emission sources for this county are labeled (108).





Figure 3: Benzene monitor locations and relevant benzene emission sources for Duval County.

Benzene monitor locations within Duval County, Florida. Each site is encircled by a 2 mile radius. Blue marks indicate known benzene emission sites; the highest emission sources for this county are labeled (108).





Figure 4: Benzene monitor locations and relevant benzene emission sources for Hillsborough County.

Benzene monitor locations within Hillsborough County, Florida. Each site is encircled by a 2 mile radius. Blue marks indicate known benzene emission sites; the highest emission sources for this county are labeled (108).





Figure 5: Benzene monitor locations and relevant benzene emission sources for Dade County.

Benzene monitor locations within Dade County, Florida. Each site is encircled by a 2 mile radius. Blue marks indicate known benzene emission sites; the highest emission sources for this county are labeled (108).



Figure 6: Benzene monitor locations and relevant benzene emission sources for Orange County.



Benzene monitor locations within Orange County, Florida. Each site is encircled by a 2 mile radius. Blue marks indicate known benzene emission sites; the highest emission sources for this county are labeled (108).



Figure 7: Benzene monitor locations and relevant benzene emission sources for Pinellas County.



Benzene monitor locations within Pinellas County, Florida. Each site is encircled by a 2 mile radius. Blue marks indicate known benzene emission sites; the highest emission sources for this county are labeled (108).



2.2 Data Collection

Six Florida Counties (Duval, Pinellas, Miami-Dade, Hillsborough, Orange, and Broward) currently monitor and report air toxics levels to the United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). From the USEPA air toxics database, all reported monitor levels were queried for Parameter 45201 Benzene in the State of Florida for years 2003 – 2006 (108). The final dataset contained all reported airborne benzene measurements from 23 individual monitoring sites during this time interval.

The sample collection method for Broward, Hillsborough, Miami-Dade, Orange, and Pinellas counties uses the EPA method code 176 (109). This method uses 6 liter, subambient canisters for collection over either 12 or 24 hour periods. Chemical species are quantified by Entech Proconcentrator Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectroscopy. Duval County utilizes EPA method code 101 (109). This method utilizes subambient pressure canisters to collect samples over either 3, 4, 8, 12, or 24 hours (all time periods were used for sampling beginning at various times throughout day or night time hours). Chemical Species are quantified by Multi-Detector Gas Chromatography. Both methods have the same calculated method detection limit (MDL).

2.3 Assigning Values to Measurements Below the Method Detection Limit

In assessing low level environmental exposures, quantifying concentrations can be limited by the physical capabilities of the equipment being used to measure the airborne concentrations of a substance. When a measured value is below the method



detection limit used in an exposure assessment, it is not considered a reliable value. For these measurements, values are assigned based on assumptions made as to the type of exposure being analyzed. For instance, as benzene is ubiquitous throughout the atmosphere, it would not be a reasonable assumption that values under the MDL would indicate a level of zero. Alternative methods have been proposed by Hornung and Reed 1990 (128). The most conservative method of assigning values is to apply the actual MDL to values that fall below the limit. This method will result in the highest estimated mean exposure levels, and may significantly overestimate the actual exposure in data for which there are many values below the MDL. Another proposed methodology that is less conservative than using the actual MDL is to divide the MDL by the square root of 2 (128). Hornung and Reed 1990 compared this method with known censored datasets and found the comparison to maximum likelihood estimates to be a highly accurate method of assigning values non-skewed data (128). Hornung and Reed 1990 also found this methodology to be more appropriate than the USEPA method of assigning values below the MDL as the MDL divided by 2 (128). Dividing the MDL by 2 results in the least conservative estimation of mean values, and might be criticized by some as resulting in an underestimation of mean exposure. As a principle goal of the current research is to analyze the exposure data with USEPA risk assessment methodology, it of great interest to calculate means that are consistent with USEPA methods. However, in order to explore the effects of this data treatment on estimated mean exposures, the alternative methods were also employed, and the results were compared using the students t-test to assess if statistically significant differences in estimated mean exposures have been produced as a result.



www.manaraa.com
Assigning values to measurements that are below the MDL may significantly affect the calculated means if a large portion of the data set consists of values that fall below the MDL. The standard procedure for assigning values below the MDL, as indicated by the USEPA Guidelines for Carcinogen Risk Assessment, is to divide the MDL by 2 (110). This was the primary method used for calculating risk probabilities in the current study. In order to assess the impact of values falling below the MDL on the calculation of risk probabilities, two additional methods of assigning values to measurements under the MDL are considered. The Upper Confidence Limit of the Arithmetic Mean (UCL-AM) is also calculated by assigning values equal to the MDL, and assigning values equal to the MDL divided by the square root of 2, when recorded values are below the MDL. The students t-test has been used to determine whether or not the different methodologies used in assigning values to measurements under the MDL have a statistically significant impact on the calculation of UCL-AMs.

2.4 USEPA Risk Analysis

A risk analysis of the data was performed using the USEPA Risk Assessment for Superfund methodology (110). Risk estimates were produced for the probability of developing cancer (AML) as a result of the measured benzene concentrations. The exposure concentrations used in the calculation of risk and the risk probabilities were derived using the USEPA software ProUCL version 4. The ProUCL program calculates the 95% UCL-AM for normal, lognormal, gamma, and nonparametrically



(non-normal) distributed concentrations of chemicals in air and recommends the most appropriate UCL-AM for use depending on the distribution of the data. This analysis was performed for the data retrieved for each individual site.

Risk probabilities were then calculated from all previously described UCL-AMs for all sites. These risk probabilities were calculated by multiplying the UCL-AM by the Inhalation Unit Risk (IUR) as prescribed in the USEPA Guidelines for carcinogen risk assessment (110). The IUR used for benzene, 7.8×10^{-6} , is consistent with both the USEPA Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS) and the Florida Department of Environmental Protection risk assessment methodology (49, 111).

2.5 Comparative Analysis

In order to conduct a comparative analysis between the benzene exposures found in the current research and those found in epidemiological studies that have assessed the relationship between cumulative lifetime benzene exposures (expressed as ppmyears) and cancer, monitored levels in the current data set have been extrapolated to reflect cumulative lifetime exposures in ppm-years. This was performed using USEPA methodology presented in the Region/ORD Workshop on Inhalation Risk Assessment: A Superfund Focus (112). Using the UCL-AMs for calculating the risk probability associated with each monitoring site, the cumulative exposure was extrapolated into ppm-years with the following conversion factors: $20 \text{ m}^3/10 \text{ m}^3 \times 7$ days/5 days x 70 years/40 years = 4.9. This method of conversion accounts for both the decreased inhalation rate associated with non-occupational airborne exposures as



well as the increased exposure duration of 7 days a week for 70 years compared to occupational exposures of 5 days a week over a 40 year working lifetime. The ORD Workshop on Inhalation Risk Assessment indicates that the conversion factor affecting the difference in inhalation rates adequately compensates for the difference in daily exposure times (e.g. 24 hours of environmental exposure versus 8 hours of occupational exposure) and that an additional conversion factor for this difference is unnecessary (112).

A literature review using the PubMed/Medline database has been conducted to gather all published, peer reviewed scientific literature regarding airborne benzene exposure and cancer outcomes that contain comparisons of discreet ranges of lifetime exposure. In comparing the cumulative lifetime benzene exposures derived from the current research with cumulative benzene exposures from occupational cohorts, a weight of evidence approach using the criteria for causal analysis has been made to determine if there is potentially a threshold below which leukemogenesis does not occur. More specifically, this comparative analysis determined if there is research to indicate there is a potential association between levels of exposure measured in this dissertation with leukemogenesis by assessing the levels of cumulative lifetime exposures found in occupational cohorts that are associated with leukemogenesis.



Chapter 3.0: Results

3.1 Descriptive Statistics

Tables 1 – 6 contain the summary statistics of the airborne benzene measurements collected at each sampling site, by county. The number of samples, minimum measured concentrations, maximum measured concentrations, mean concentrations, median concentrations, and the standard deviation are reported for all sites for samples collected between January 2003 and December 2006. As three different methods were used to assign values to measurements below the MDL, summary statistics were produced for each method for those sites that had measurements below the MDL, and this is reflected in the following tables. For sites with no measurements below the MDL, results from using any value assigning methodology could not be reported.



	Site	Site	Site	Site
	1002	2004	3002	5005
Number of Samples	218	181	186	224
Number Below MDL	13	21	6	29
MDL ^a				
Minimum	0.29	0.2	0.2	0.22
Maximum	3.03	2.72	20.19	2.27
Mean	0.831	0.881	1.711	0.729
Median	0.73	0.8	0.93	0.64
SD ^d	0.399	0.463	3.256	0.359
MDL/2 ^b				
Minimum	0.19	0.1	0.1	0.12
Maximum	3.03	2.72	20.19	2.27
Mean	0.817	0.856	1.705	0.7
Median	0.73	0.8	0.93	0.64
SD ^d	0.415	0.491	3.259	0.386
MDL/ $\sqrt{2^{c}}$				
Minimum	0.27	0.14	0.14	0.17
Maximum	3.03	2.72	20.19	2.27
Mean	0.823	0.866	1.707	0.712
Median	0.73	0.8	0.93	0.64
SD ^d	0.408	0.478	3.258	0.373

Table 1: Summary Statistics for airborne benzene samples collected between January 2003 and December 2006 for all Broward County sampling sites. All concentrations are $\mu g/m^3$.

^a Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL.

^b Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL/2. ^c Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL/ $\sqrt{2}$

^d Standard Deviation



	Site	Site
	29	32
Number of Samples	119	80
Number Below MDL	3	1
MDL		
Minimum	0.16	0.35
Maximum	2.84	3.1
Mean	0.803	1.221
Median	0.67	1.15
SD	0.523	0.569
MDL/2		
Minimum	0.16	0.19
Maximum	2.84	3.1
Mean	0.796	1.219
Median	0.67	1.15
SD	0.528	0.573
MDL/√2		
Minimum	0.16	0.28
Maximum	2.84	3.1
Mean	0.799	1.22
Median	0.67	1.15
SD	0.525	0.571

Table 2: Summary Statistics for airborne benzene samples collected between January 2003 and December 2006 for all Dade County sampling sites. All concentrations are $\mu g/m^3$.

^a Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL.

^b Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL/2. ^c Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL/ $\sqrt{2}$

^d Standard Deviation



Table 3: Summary Statistics for airborne benzene samples collected between January 2003 and December 2006 for all Duval County sampling sites. All concentrations are μ g/m³.

	Site	Site	Site	Site	Site
	32	77	80	84	100
Number of	96	54	48	89	48
Samples	70	51	10	07	10
Number					
Below	0	0	0	0	0
MDL					
Minimum	1.41	1.09	1.41	1.05	0.05
Maximum	24.79	24.09	34.50	28.62	14.95
Mean	6.09	4.28	6.18	7.68	3.62
Median	4.52	3.37	4.70	6.87	3.42
SD ^a	4.34	3.47	5.33	4.79	2.59
	Site	Site	Site	Site	Site
	101	102	103	104	105
Number					
of	240	504	210	430	25
Samples					
Number					
Below	0	0	0	0	0
MDL					
Minimum	0.54	0.38	0.32	0.45	4.06
Maximum	116.10	134.40	46.67	23.96	13.13
Mean	8.23	9.01	5.53	3.93	7.76
Median	5.20	5.51	4.28	2.72	7.25
SD ^a	10.48	12.59	4.82	3.52	2.55

^a Standard Deviation



Table 4: Summary Statistics for airborne benzene samples collected between
January 2003 and December 2006 for all Hillsborough County sampling sites.
All concentrations are µg/m ³ .

	Site	Site	Site
	1065	1075	3002
Number of Samples	218	57	177
Number Below MDL	0	0	0
Minimum	0.19	0.38	0.16
Maximum	2.3	2.59	1.53
Mean	0.654	0.886	0.551
Median	0.58	0.77	0.48
SD^{a}	0.298	0.452	0.263

^aStandard Deviation



	Site
	2002
Number of Samples	122
Number Below MDL	3
MDL ^a	
Minimum	0.35
Maximum	1.69
Mean	0.734
Median	0.67
SD ^d	0.291
MDL/2 ^b	
Minimum	0.32
Maximum	1.69
Mean	0.726
Median	0.67
SD ^d	0.298
MDL/ $\sqrt{2^{c}}$	
Minimum	0.35
Maximum	1.69
Mean	0.728
Median	0.67
SD ^d	0.296

Table 5: Summary Statistics for airborne benzene samples collected between January 2003 and December 2006 for all Orange County sampling sites. All concentrations are $\mu g/m^3$.

^a Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL.

^b Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL/2. ^c Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL/ $\sqrt{2}$

^d Standard Deviation



	Site	Site	Site
	4	18	26
Number of Samples	59	240	147
Number Below MDL	0	0	0
Minimum	0.35	0.16	0.26
Maximum	1.92	2.78	4.66
Mean	0.853	0.826	1.039
Median	0.73	0.73	0.93
SD ^a	0.378	0.444	0.629

Table 6: Summary Statistics for airborne benzene samples collected between January 2003 and December 2006 for all Pinellas County sampling sites. All concentrations are $\mu g/m^3$.

^a Standard Deviation

3.2 Comparative Statistics for the Different Methods of Assigning Values to Measurements Below the MDL

As previously stated, the method used by the USEPA to assign values to measurements under the MDL is to divide the MDL by 2. Other, more conservative methods, are often used to assign these values including assigning the value of MDL or assigning the value of the MDL divided by the square root of 2. In order to determine if the differences in value assignment methodologies have a statistically significant impact on the derivation of the mean (and consequently the UCL-AM of the mean), a two-tailed, paired t-test was conducted to compare the data that resulted from using the USEPA methodology (MDL/2) with the data that resulted from using both the actual MDL and the MDL/ $\sqrt{2}$. A statistically significant difference was considered to be evident at a p-value less than 0.05. These results are summarized for each site that contained values below the MDL, by county, in Tables 7 – 12.



Table 7: The results of paired t-tests for each site in Broward County. A p-value <0.05 indicates a statistically significant difference in mean concentration values due to assigning values to measurements under the MDL with an alternative methodology than that used by the USEPA (MDL/2).

	MDL/√2	MDL
	(p-value)	(p-value)
Site 1002	<0.001*	<0.001*
Site 2004	<0.001*	<0.001*
Site 3002	0.019*	0.018*
Site 5005	<0.001*	<0.001*

* Indicates a statistically significant difference in the derivation of means by using the alternative methodology of assigning values below the MDL compared to the method used by the USEPA (MDL/2).

Table 8: The results of paired t-tests for each site in Dade County. A p-value <0.05 indicates a statistically significant difference in mean concentration values due to assigning values to measurements under the MDL with an alternative methodology than that used by the USEPA (MDL/2).

	MDL/√2 (p-value)	MDL (p-value)
Site 29	0.098	0.101
Site 32	0.320	0.320

Table 9: The results of paired t-tests for each site in Orange County. A p-value <0.05 indicates a statistically significant difference in mean concentration values due to assigning values to measurements under the MDL with an alternative methodology than that used by the USEPA (MDL/2).

	MDL/√2	MDL
	(p-value)	(p-value)
Site 2002	0.0833	0.0833

The paired t-tests indicate that only the data collected in Broward County (sites 1002,

2004, 3002, 5005) are affected at a statistically significant level by using alternative

methods of assigning values to measurements under the MDL in the exposure

assessment. Consequently, only these sites will be presented with results calculated

from alternative methods of assigning values below the MDL in subsequent analyses.



3.3 The Calculation of the 95% UCL-AMs using ProUCL

The 95% UCL-AMs for measured airborne benzene concentrations were calculated using ProUCL software. These values, which are used in the subsequent risk analysis, are summarized by site for each county in Tables 13 – 18. In Figures 2-7, the 95% UCL-AMs are charted for a side by side comparison of the relative exposure levels measured within each county. Figure 8 provides a side by side comparison of all the 95% UCL-AMs for all monitoring sites in the State of Florida. As three different methods were used to assign values to measurements below the Method Detection Limit (MDL), 95% UCL-AMs were produced for each method for relevant sites, and this is reflected in the following tables and figures.

Table 10: The 95% UCL-AMs for all measured airborne benzene concentrations in Broward County between 2003 and 2006 by Site. All concentrations are $\mu g/m^3$.

	Site 1002	Site 2004	Site 3002	Site 5005
Concentration (MDL) ^a	0.88	0.94	2.75	0.77
Concentration $(MDL/\sqrt{2})^{b}$	0.87	0.93	2.75	0.75
Concentration (MDL/2) ^c	0.86	0.92	2.75	0.74

^a Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL.

^b Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL/ $\sqrt{2}$.

^c Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL/2.



Figure 8: Summary of the 95% UCL-AMs for Broward County monitoring sites for data collected from the years 2003 to 2006. Concentrations are expressed in $\mu g/m^3$.



Table 11: The 95% UCL-AMs for all measured airborne benzene concentrations in Dade County between 2003 and 2006 by Site. All concentrations are $\mu g/m^3$.

	Site 29	Site 32
Concentration	1.01	1.33



Figure 9: Summary of the UCL-AMs for Dade County monitoring sites for data collected from the years 2003 to 2006. Concentrations are expressed in $\mu g/m^3$.



Table 12: The 95% UCL-AMs for all measured airborne benzene concentrations in Duval County between 2003 and 2006 by Site. All concentrations are $\mu g/m^3$.

	Site	Site	Site	Site	Site
	32	77	80	84	100
Concentration	6.72	4.95	7.13	8.57	4.32

	Site	Site	Site	Site	Site
	101	102	103	104	105
Concentration	11.18	11.45	5.94	4.67	8.63



Figure 10: Summary of the UCL-AMs for Duval County monitoring sites for data collected from the years 2003 to 2006. Concentrations are expressed in $\mu g/m^3$.



Table 13: The 95% UCL-AMs for all measured airborne benzene concentrations in Hillsborough County between 2003 and 2006 by Site. All concentrations are $\mu g/m^3$.

	Site 1065	Site	Site
		1075	3002
Concentration	0.687	0.982	0.584



Figure 11: Summary of the UCL-AMs for Hillsborough County monitoring sites for data collected from the years 2003 to 2006. Concentrations are expressed in $\mu g/m^3$.



Table 14: The 95% UCL-AMs for all measured airborne benzene concentrations in Orange County between 2003 and 2006 by Site. All concentrations are $\mu g/m^3$.

	Site 2002
Concentration	0.771



Figure 12: Summary of the UCL-AMs for the Orange County monitoring site for data collected from the years 2003 to 2006. Concentrations are expressed in $\mu g/m^3$.



Table 15: The 95% UCL-AMs for all measured airborne benzene concentrations in Pinellas County between 2003 and 2006 by Site. All concentrations are $\mu g/m^3$.

	Site 4	Site 18	Site 26
Concentration	0.938	0.885	1.265



Figure 13: Summary of the UCL-AMs for Pinellas County monitoring sites for data collected from the years 2003 to 2006. Concentrations are expressed in $\mu g/m^3$.





Figure 14: Summary of the UCL-AMs for all sites for data collected from the years 2003 to 2006. Concentrations are expressed in $\mu g/m^3$.



3.4 Risk Analysis

The risk analysis outcomes indicate that every monitoring site in the State of Florida measured benzene concentrations (based on the UCL-AMs) that are consistent with a lifetime (70 year) estimated cancer risk probability of greater than $1 \ge 10^{-6}$. Risk values ranged from 4.56 $\ge 10^{-6}$ to 8.93 $\ge 10^{-5}$ using USEPA methodology for data treatment and analysis. Risk estimates are summarized for each site, by county, in tables 19 - 24. In Figures 9-14, risk estimates have been charted side by side, using the FLDEP regulatory limit of $1 \ge 10^{-6}$ as the baseline for reference. Figure 15 provides a side by side comparison for the risk estimates of all counties in the State of Florida, using the FLDEP regulatory limit of $1 \ge 10^{-6}$ as the baseline for reference. Risk estimates were also calculated for the monitoring data using both alternative



methods of assigning values to measurements below the MDL for relevant sites, and

this is reflected in the following tables and figures.

Table 16: Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Broward County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.

	Site 1002	Site 2004	Site 3002	Site 5005
Concentration (MDL) ^a	6.83E-06	7.31E-06	2.15E-05	6.00E-06
Concentration $(MDL/\sqrt{2})^{b}$	6.77E-06	7.23E-06	2.14E-05	5.87E-06
Concentration (MDL/2) ^c	6.73E-06	7.19E-06	2.14E-05	5.80E-06

^a Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL.

^b Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL/ $\sqrt{2}$.

^c Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL/2.



Figure 15: Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Broward County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006. The baseline for this chart is 1×10^{-6} , the FLDEP's acceptable cancer risk.



Table 17: Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Dade County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.

	Site 29	Site 32
Concentration	7.85E-06	1.04E-05



Figure 16: Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Dade County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006. The baseline for this chart is 1×10^{-6} , the FLDEP's acceptable cancer risk.



Table 18: Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Duval County, bymonitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years2003 to 2006.

	Site	Site	Site		Site
	32	77	80	Site 84	100
	5.24E-	3.86E-	5.56E-	6.69E-	3.37E-
Concentration	05	05	05	05	05

	Site 101	Site 102	Site 103	Site 104	Site 105
Concentration	8.72E-	8.93E-	4.63E-	3.65E-	6.73E-
	05	05	05	05	05



Figure 17: Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Duval County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006. The baseline for this chart is 1×10^{-6} , the FLDEP's acceptable cancer risk.



Table 19: Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Hillsborough County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.

	Site 1065	Site 1075	Site 3002
Concentration	5.36E-06	7.66E-06	4.56E-06



Figure 18: Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Hillsborough County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006. The baseline for this chart is 1×10^{-6} , the FLDEP's acceptable cancer risk.



Table 20: Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Orange County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.

	Site 2002
Concentration	6.01E-06



Figure 19: Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Orange County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006. The baseline for this chart is 1×10^{-6} , the FLDEP's acceptable cancer risk.



Table 21: Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Pinellas County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006.

	Site 4	Site 18	Site 26
Concentration	7.32E-06	6.90E-06	9.87E-06



Figure 20: Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for Pinellas County, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006. The baseline for this chart is 1×10^{-6} , the FLDEP's acceptable cancer risk.





Figure 21: Lifetime cancer risk probability estimates for all counties, by monitoring site, based on the measured concentrations of benzene from the years 2003 to 2006. The baseline for this chart is 1×10^{-6} , the FLDEP's acceptable cancer risk.



3.5 Cumulative Lifetime Exposures in ppm-years

In order to compare the collected exposure data to epidemiological studies involving occupational cumulative lifetime benzene exposures, the UCL-AM concentrations must be converted from μ g/m³ to ppm, and then extrapolated into 70 year cumulative environmental lifetime exposures based on the ORD Workshop on Inhalation Risk Assessment methodology previously described. Cumulative lifetime exposures to benzene ranged from 0.04 ppm-years to 0.70 ppm-years. The extrapolated cumulative lifetime exposures for all sites, by county, are summarized in Tables 25 – 30. Figures 15 – 21 charts the side by side comparison of lifetime cumulative exposures for the monitoring sites within each county. Figure 22 charts the side by



side comparison of lifetime cumulative exposures for all monitoring sites in the State of Florida. Lifetime cumulative exposures were extrapolated for the monitoring data using both alternative methods of assigning values to measurements below the MDL for relevant sites, and this is reflected in the following tables.

 Table 22: Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Broward

 County by monitoring site.

 All values are ppm-years.

	Site 1002	Site 2004	Site 3002	Site 5005
Cumulative exposure (MDL) ^a	0.05	0.06	0.17	0.05
Cumulative exposure (MDL/√2) ^b	0.05	0.06	0.17	0.05
Cumulative exposure (MDL/2) ^c	0.05	0.06	0.17	0.05

^a Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL.

^b Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL/ $\sqrt{2}$.

^c Values below the MDL were assigned the value of the MDL/2.



Figure 22: Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Broward County by monitoring site in ppm-years.



Table 23: Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Dade Countyby monitoring site. All values are ppm-years.

	Site 29	Site 32
Cumulative exposure	0.06	0.08



Figure 23: Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Dade County by monitoring site in ppm-years.



Table 24: Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Duval County by monitoring site. All values are ppm-years.

	Site	Site	Site	Site	Site
	32	77	80	84	100
Cumulative exposure	0.41	0.30	0.44	0.53	0.26

	Site	Site	Site	Site	Site
	101	102	103	104	105
Cumulative exposure	0.69	0.70	0.36	0.29	0.53



Figure 24: Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Duval County by monitoring site in ppm-years.



Table 25: Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Hillsborough County by monitoring site. All values are ppm-years.

	Site 1065	Site 1075	Site 3002
Cumulative	0.04	0.06	0.04
exposure			



Figure 25: Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Hillsborough County by monitoring site in ppm-years.



Table 26: Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for OrangeCounty by monitoring site. All values are ppm-years.

	Site 2002
Cumulative exposure	0.05



Figure 26: Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Orange County by monitoring site in ppm-years.



Table 27: Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for PinellasCounty by monitoring site. All values are ppm-years.

	Site 4	Site 18	Site 26
Cumulative exposure	0.06	0.05	0.08



Figure 27: Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for Pinellas County by monitoring site in ppm-years.





Figure 28: Extrapolated 70 year lifetime cumulative exposures for all counties by monitoring site in ppm-years.



3.6 Comparative Risk Analysis with Occupational Cohorts

A review of published literature examining the relationship between discreet ranges of occupational benzene exposure and leukemia is summarized in Table 31. For all studies, the highest exposure category that did not result in a statistically significant association between benzene and leukemia was considered the No Observable Adverse Effect Level (NOAEL) for that study. For all studies, the lowest exposure category that resulted in a statistically significant association with leukemia was considered the Lowest Observable Adverse Effect Level (LOAEL). No studies were discovered that established a relationship between benzene and leukemia outcomes for cumulative exposures below 1 ppm-years.



Table 28: The No Observable Adverse Effect Levels (NOAEL) and the Lowest Observable Adverse Effect Levels (LOAEL) for all studies used in the comparative risk analysis.

Study	Measure of Association	NOAEL	LOAEL	Evidence for association between leukemogenesis and cumulative exposures under 1 ppm- years
Swaen et al. 2005	SMR	401.5 ppm- years	N/A ^a	NO
Seniori et al. 2003	SMR	100-199 ppm- years	>200 ppm- years	NO
Guenel et al. 2002	OR	≥5.5 - <16.8 ppm- years	≥16.8 ppm- years	NO
Rushton et al. 1997	OR	>45 ppm- years	N/A ^a	NO
Wong et al. 1995	SMR	40-200 ppm- years	200-400 ppm- years	NO
Collins et al. 2003	SMR	>6 ppm- years	N/A ^a	NO
Paxton 1996	SMR	>5-50 ppm- years	>50-500	NO
Glass et al. 2006	OR	Not Reporte d	>8 ppm- years	NO
Glass et al. 2003	OR	>1-2 ppm- years	>2-4 ppm- years	NO
Hayes et al. 1997	RR	<40 ppm- years	40-99 ppm- years	NO
Rinsky et al. 1987	SMR	40-200 ppm- years	200-400 ppm- years	NO
Schnatter et al. 1996	OR	20- 219.8 ppm- years	N/A ^a	NO


Wong and	SMR	40-200	200-400	
Gerhard		ppm-	ppm-	NO
1995		years	years	

SMR = Standardized Mortality Ratio, OR = Odds Ration, RR = Risk Ratio

^aN/A indicates no association between cumulative lifetime benzene exposure and leukemia was found in this study.



Chapter 4.0: Discussion

4.1 USEPA Risk Assessment for Benzene

Using the USEPA Risk Assessment for Carcinogens methodology, the 70 year lifetime risk of developing cancer from the exposure levels measured in this study exceed the Florida DEP's acceptable risk of 1×10^{-6} for all sites. In order to determine what these results mean in terms of actual cancer outcomes that may result from this exposure, it is necessary to examine the nature of regulatory risk assessment and its limitations. Further, a comparison between historical and contemporary epidemiological studies must be conducted to determine if the risks suggested by the risk analysis using the USEPA Risk Assessment for Carcinogens methodology are consistent with empirical evidence.

The basis for the model used to perform risk analysis for inhalational exposure to benzene used by both the USEPA and FLDEP is published by the USEPA Integrated Risk Information System (IRIS) (48). The risk model currently employed produces risk probabilities specifically for the leukemia "tumor type", based primarily on data gathered from the Pliofilm Rubber Factory cohort in a study of workers occupationally exposed to benzene, originally described by Infante et al. 1977 (10). The data from this cohort is considered the be the highest quality amongst all current studies examining the relationship between benzene exposure and leukemia as it has a sufficient sample size to provide adequate statistical power, the least amount of



uncontrolled ancillary exposures that may result in confounding, and the most accurate exposure assessment compared to other occupational cohorts. This is not to say, however, that the exposure assessment conducted in this cohort is absolutely precise, in that the direct measurements of exposure do not describe the entirety of all working lifetime exposures. Several exposure matrices have been proposed, based on job classification, time spent on the job, and employment duration, combined with direct exposure measurements to estimate the cumulative exposures of the Pliofilm workers. USEPA IRIS identifies the exposure matrices proposed by Crump and Allen 1984 and Paustenbach et al. 1993 to be the most compelling estimates of cumulative exposure, and present both resulting models in their risk analysis methodology (48, 113-114). As the model resulting from the Paustenbach et al. 1993 is the more conservative exposure matrix (which results in a risk model that produces higher risk values than the model based on the Crump and Allen 1984 exposure matrix), it is the model commonly employed by regulatory agencies, including the FLDEP (113-114). The resulting IUR of 7.8 x 10^{-6} has been used to calculate risk probabilities in the current research (48).

The second mitigating factor in the estimation of risk is the use of the linearized multistage model to extrapolate risk values for exposures below that of which exposure data actually exists. In the USEPA Guidelines for Carcinogen Risk Assessment, the following qualification is indicated for risk probabilities produced using the linearized multistage model:



"It should be emphasized that the linearized multistage procedure leads to a plausible upper limit to the risk that is consistent with some proposed mechanisms of carcinogenesis. Such an estimate, however, does not necessarily give a realistic prediction of the risk. *The true value of the risk is unknown, and may be as low as zero.*" (110)

In the current dissertation, the above qualification is pointedly relevant to the interpretation of the outcomes associated with the risk analysis of ambient airborne benzene levels measured throughout the State of Florida. As we compare the risk values produced in this research with actual exposure/outcome data present in the scientific literature, it will become apparent that the true value of risk associated with these measured exposure levels, is in fact, *almost certainly zero*.

4.2 Comparative Analysis

Rinsky et al. 1981, 1987 produced one of the first epidemiological studies describing discrete categories of cumulative exposures to benzene and associated cancer outcomes that had both a sufficient sample size to produce statistically significant results and a limited amount of confounding chemical exposures (45, 115). As indicated in Table 31, the NOAEL found in that research fell in the category of 40-200 ppm-years of exposure. As a result of the risk model proposed by Rinsky et al. 1981, 1987 the data from this cohort has been scrutinized by several other researchers including Crump and Allen 1984, Crump 1994, Paustenbach et al. 1993, and Wong 1995 with the intent of evaluating both the exposure matrix used by Rinsky et al. 1981, 1987 as well as the methodology used to develop a risk model (45, 113, 115-117). While all authors who evaluated the Rinsky et al. 1981, 1987 exposure



cohort, when evaluating the association between the same discreet categories used by Rinsky et al. 1981, 1987, they produced similar results, in that no statistically significant association was found between cumulative exposures ranging between 40-200 ppm-years (or below) and leukemogenesis (45, 113, 115-117).

Several authors who have evaluated this cohort have been quite specific in noting the evidence to support the supposition that benzene is a threshold carcinogen (though the actual threshold is still debated). Paxton 1996 used the exposure estimates of Rinsky et al. 1987, Crump 1994, and Paustenbach et al. 1993 to compare the association of benzene cumulative exposures to leukemias using different exposure categories for comparison than previous studies (45, 113, 116, 118). With any exposure matrix used in previous studies, she found no association between benzene and leukemia at cumulative exposures below 50 ppm-years, indicating: "The newly gathered information continues to be consistent with a threshold model for leukemogenesis by benzene" (118).

Wong 1995 used the data from this cohort to analyze the association between leukemia (specifically AML), multiple myeloma, and cumulative exposure to benzene (117). The results indicated no association exists for any cumulative exposure and multiple myeloma, while the association between cumulative benzene exposures and AML were confined to exposures exceeding 200 ppm-years (117). Wong 1995 indicates that the concept of specificity has largely been ignored in the causal analysis for this exposure/disease relationship, noting:



"Three decades ago, Hill set forth criteria for assessment of causation. The same criteria were used in evaluating cancer risks related to tobacco in the Surgeon General's report on smoking, and by the International Agency for Research on Cancer in evaluation of carcinogenicity. Specificity is one of the major criteria for causation analysis. The analysis specific to AML presented in this report shows the importance of taking specificity into consideration. Previous analyses based on all leukaemia cell types combined have incorrectly set the estimated threshold too low but underestimated risk above the threshold. The estimated threshold specific to AML was found to be at least 200 ppm-years based on one set of exposure estimates; and much higher, had other exposure estimates (most likely more accurate) been used" (117).

Another large benzene cohort exists, consisting of Chinese industrial workers, which

is currently under study (47). While this cohort is larger than the pliofilm cohort,

significant criticisms have prevented the research from being considered in the

creation of regulatory levels, as is indicated by the USEPA IRIS:

"Although the ongoing Chinese cohort studies (Dosemeci et al., 1994; Hayes et al., 1996, 1997; Yin et al., 1987, 1989, 1994, 1996) provide a large data set and perhaps may provide information in the future to better characterize risk of cancer at low dose exposure, their use in the derivation of risk estimates remains problematic at present...Limitations of this study include possible concurrent exposures to many different chemicals found in the factories where the benzene exposure occurred. There is a lack of reliable exposure information in the early days of the observation period, when only 3% of the exposure estimates were based on actual measurements...The limitations of these studies, except for Rinsky et al. (1981, 1987), preclude their use in quantitative risk estimation" (48).

Despite these issues, research based on this cohort does provide some valuable

evidence towards the discovery of a threshold level of cumulative lifetime benzene

exposure, below which there is no association with leukemogenesis. Hayes et al.

1997 provides a comprehensive analysis of the Chinese worker cohort, which

produced no statistically significant associations between <40 ppm-years of

cumulative benzene exposure and leukemia, non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, acute



lymphocytic leukemia, acute lymphocytic leukemia and myelodysplastic syndromes, or other leukemias (47).

Hayes et al. 1997 did find a statistically significant association when they compared all hemotologic neoplasms to their lowest cumulative exposure group (<40 ppmyears). In light of the circumstances surrounding that finding, it is difficult to regard it as meaningful, in terms of assigning a causal association between low levels of cumulative benzene exposure and hemotologic neoplasms. As was noted by USEPA IRIS, and is confirmed by Hayes et al. 1997, the workers in this cohort were exposed to a variety of industrial manufacturing solvents, which could not be controlled for in analysis (47-48). As well, to reiterate the proposition made by Wong 1995, specificity is often overlooked in the assessment of causal associations between exposures and diseases; and in this case, we have an association which is neither specific in terms of exposure, nor in terms of disease (119). As well, when the dose response for increasing levels of exposure is examined for this disease category, a dose response is notably absent. The Risk Ratios for each in increasing exposure category were reported as: 2.2 (<40 ppm-years), 2.9 (40 – 99 ppm-years), and 2.7 (>100 ppm-years), displaying no clear increase of risk with relatively large increases of cumulative exposure (47). The lack of dose response found in this study is also evident in the outcomes for leukemia. The Risk Ratios reported for leukemia were non-significant at (<40 ppm-years), 3.1 at (40 - 99 ppm-years), and 2.7 at (>100ppm-years) (47). It is not clear from these results that there is an increased risk of leukemia from 100 ppm-years of exposure compared to 40 ppm-years of exposure.



With a study cohort of 74,828 exposed workers, it is unlikely that sample size was limiting factor of the analysis; more likely, this lack of a robust dose-response is due to the fact that the cohort is made up of workers from a diverse field of industries which makes an accurate exposure assessment difficult (especially when the same methodology is used to assign exposures to workers in different environments), as well as making it nearly impossible to control for confounding chemical exposures. It is principally these reasons that the USEPA rejects the Hayes et al. 1997 data as being acceptable for developing quantitative risk analysis. In light of these shortcomings, it is fair to say that the pliofilm cohort provides clearer evidence of a threshold for leukemogenesis due to cumulative benzene exposure (somewhere between 50 - 200ppm-years), whereas the Hayes et al. 1997 data suggests a threshold somewhere below 40 ppm-years (47-48). It is certain that the Hayes et al. 1997 data do not provide *any* evidence that there may be any risk of leukemogenesis at exposures below 1 ppm-years, and as well, do not provide strong evidence to contradict the threshold of \geq 50 ppm-years found in the pliofilm cohort (45-48, 113, 115-117).

Wong and Gerhard 1995 conducted another cell type specific meta-analysis of leukemias associated with cumulative benzene exposures in a cohort of petroleum workers from the United Kingdom and the United States (119). The results of this analysis were directly comparable to the findings in numerous analyses in the American pliofilm cohort. No statistically significant associations were found between any leukemia type and cumulative benzene exposures below 200 ppm-years (119). One of the major strengths of this study is the large sample size, including the



evaluation of 208,741 exposed workers (119). It should be noted that the authors indicate exposures may have been underestimated for some groups (especially those in the highest exposure groups) because in addition to their less well controlled working conditions, it is believed many workers were exposed more than 8 hours a day for a 5 day work week, which was the exposure standard used in the exposure assessment (119). This potential underestimation of exposure leads Wong and Gerhard 1995 to believe that risk at 200 ppm-years of cumulative exposure may actually be overestimated, and that the threshold for leukemogenesis may actually be much higher (119).

Rushton and Romaniuk 1997 performed a smaller case control study (91 exposed cases), also using petroleum workers from the United Kingdom (120). Workers in this study had significantly lower exposures than found in previously discussed studies, the highest exposure group evaluated being \geq 45 ppm-years of exposure (120). The authors of this study were not able to find any association between cumulative benzene exposure and leukemia, supporting the previous findings that a threshold exists for cumulative benzene exposures exists for leukemogenesis, and that the threshold is in great excess of environmental levels (120).

Guenel et al. 2002 performed a small case control study (72 exposed cases) in Gas and Electric Utility Workers (121). These workers were typically classified has having much lower cumulative exposures than other occupational groups previously examined, with the highest exposure group being \geq 16.8 ppm-years (121). The initial



findings of this study indicate a statistically significant association between all leukemias and cumulative benzene exposures of >16.8 ppm-years, however, further evaluation of this study diminishes the importance of this finding (121). The exposure assessment performed by Guenel et al. 2002 suffers from the common affliction found in the majority of epidemiological studies examining the relationship between benzene and leukemia: the potential underestimation of exposure levels (121). As is often criticized by other researchers examining this issue, low level exposures are not found to be specifically associated with any specific cell type, and this was apparent in Guenel et al. 2002 who failed to demonstrate any statistically significant association between cumulative benzene exposures and any specific leukemia, including AML, acute lymphoid leukemia, all chronic leukemias, chronic myeloid leukemia, and chronic lymphoid leukemia (121). Finally, when the odds ratio for all leukemias and cumulative exposure group of greater than 16.8 years is adjusted for confounding exposures (asbestos, chlorinated solvents, and coal tars), the estimated association loses statistical significance, and thereby also loses any utility as evidence for determining that low level cumulative benzene exposure is a causative agent for leukemia (121).

Glass et al. 2003, 2006 also attempts to find an association between low cumulative benzene exposure levels and various hemotopoietic cancers in a small case control study (79 total cases, 33 cases of leukemia) examining Australian petroleum workers (122-123). The authors report a statistically significant association between leukemias and cumulative benzene exposure at >2-4 ppm-years [OR = 6.1 (1.4–



(26.0)], a non-significant association at >4-8 ppm-years [OR = 2.4 (0.4–13.6)], a significant association at >8-16 ppm-years [OR = 5.9 (1.3–27.0)], and a greatly elevated significant association at >16 ppm-years [OR = 98.2 (8.8–1090)] (122-123). The first notable weakness of these results is the inconsistency of dose response throughout the exposure categories (122-123). As almost all of the cases selected for this analysis fall into a narrow range of low level exposures, if a true association existed at these exposure levels, one would expect a clear dose-response to be apparent when the cumulative exposure essentially doubles by every increasing exposure category (122-123). As the results are presented, it is clear this is not the case. In fact, due the extreme variance in the data, it is difficult to determine if a dose-response is occurring between any levels of exposure, even the between the two highest categories (122-123). While superficially, it may seem that a quantifiable increase is occurring between the >8-16 ppm-years exposure level (OR = 5.9) and the highest exposure level of >16 ppm-years (OR = 98.2), an examination of the extensive confidence intervals associated with those OR point estimates indicates two important characteristics of these data (122-123). Firstly, the point estimates for these are relatively meaningless (especially for the highest exposure group), as there is equal probability that the point estimate indicated by the regression model could actually be any value within the 95% confidence interval (122-123). Therefore, the actual strength of association presented in these results is unknown. Secondly, the width of the confidence intervals show a significant amount of overlap between the outcomes of the last two exposure groups, indicating that while the point estimates would seemingly suggest a tremendous dose response from 5.9 to 98.2, it is actually



impossible to ascertain whether or not such a large dose-response is occurring in this study, or if any dose-response relationship exists at all at these levels of exposure (122-123).

Perhaps the greatest criticism that could be made of this research is the exposure assessment methodology. The authors disclose that they used essentially the same methodology of assigning exposure to workers exposed after 1975 as workers exposed before 1975 as a result of "uncertainty about exposures before 1975" (123). By doing this, the authors have undoubtedly underestimated exposures in this study by not accounting for changes in workplace practices and regulations that would have led to significantly different exposure levels in the workplace. In some cases, they have attributed more current exposure levels to workers whose principle exposures occurred before 1975, which for some workers, represented of 30 or more years of their exposure duration (122-123)!

It is obvious that the exposure assessment of the cohort used in Glass et al. 2003, 2006 has not been scrutinized to the degree that the more highly regarded exposure assessment in the pliofilm cohort has. The research by Glass et al. 2003, 2006 essentially represents 33 cases of leukemia that produce widely variant measures of association, no definitive dose response, and an analysis based on an exposure assessment that almost certainly underestimated worker exposure to a significant degree (122-123). In addition, these results are a unique finding, which have failed to be replicated by other researchers. Without addressing these key factors, this research



cannot provide adequate evidence to invalidate the threshold exposure level of ≥ 50 ppm-years as found in the pliofilm cohort, and without question, the evidence provides no support to the supposition that there may be a risk of leukemogenesis when exposed to 1 ppm-years or less of airborne benzene.

There have been several other recent epidemiological studies evaluating the relationship between benzene exposed workers and leukemogenesis, including Collins et al. 2003, who specifically evaluated low level cumulative exposures in their analysis (124). Collins et al. 2003 examined a cohort of 4417 chemical plant workers with cumulative exposure categories of: unexposed, less than 1 ppm-years, 1-6 ppm-years, and >6 ppm-years (124). No association between cumulative benzene exposure and leukemia could be established for any exposure group, the authors noting, "The dose rate of benzene and a threshold for exposure response may be important factors for evaluating lymphohaematopoietic risk (124)."

Seniori-Constantini et al. 2003 evaluated benzene exposure and leukemia deaths amongst 1687 exposed shoe factory workers (125). To make their results comparable to the findings of other larger cohorts, specifically the Pliofilm cohort (Rinsky et al. 1987, Paustenbach et al. 1993, Crump 1994, Paxton 1996), similar exposure categories were evaluated; that of <40 ppm-years, 40-99 ppm-years, 100-199 ppmyears, and >200 ppm-years (45, 113, 116, 118, 125). Seniori-Constantini et al. 2003 failed to find an association between cumulative benzene exposure and leukemia at any exposure level except for those exposed to more than 200 ppm-years. These



results are in direct agreement with those found in the pliofilm cohort, clearly supporting historical evidence of a threshold for benzene exposure and leukemogenesis (125).

Swaen et al. 2005 evaluated 311 Caprolactam workers in the Netherlands with benzene exposure (126). The authors of this study chose to divide their exposure categories into the mean cumulative exposures for each tertile (126). The mean cumulative exposures for each tertile were 3.4 ppm-years, 68.8 ppm-years, and 401.5 ppm-years (126). The results of this analysis did not find an association between benzene exposure and excess leukemia (126). An obvious weakness of this study is the small sample size of the cohort, though using the tertile divisions created exposure categories that were nearly equivalent in size from the first to the third quartile (n = 94, 88, and 93 respectively) (126). While this study admittedly does not share the degree of statistical power found in previous studies, it certainly adds to the weight of evidence supporting a threshold level of benzene exposure below which there is no risk of leukemogenesis, and as well, this study contributes evidence to the supposition that this threshold exists at or above 50 ppm-years (126).

Similarly, Schnatter et al. 1996 performed a case control study with a small group of Canadian petroleum workers (14 cases) to evaluate the relationship of their benzene exposure and leukemia (127). The cumulative benzene exposures ranged from 0 to 219.8 ppm-years (127). The authors attempted to assess various exposure categories to create the largest exposure groups possible, despite their small sample size, with



the highest exposed category being those with 20 to 219.8 ppm-years of exposure (127). The authors of this study failed to find an association between any exposure category and leukemia (127). Obviously, the small sample size would hinder the ability to find a significant association between cumulative benzene exposure and leukemia if it existed, but it is important to note that the sample size did provide enough statistical power to find statistically significant associations between smoking history, and a family history of cancer with leukemia (127). So, while this study does have significant limitations, it is consistent with the compilation of studies that examine cumulative lifetime benzene exposures (127).

The lifetime cumulative benzene exposures calculated in the current risk characterization, extrapolated from the measured exposures from each monitoring site, ranged from 0.04 ppm-years to 0.70 ppm-years. Based on the weight of scientific evidence presented, which indicates that the threshold for leukemogenesis exists at or above 50 ppm-years of cumulative lifetime benzene exposure, it can be seen that the measured exposures in this study are approximately 50 to 1000 times lower than cumulative exposures that are capable of producing leukemogenesis. Without exception, no research to date has found evidence of an association between leukemogenesis and the lifetime cumulative benzene exposures measured in this study, of which all fall below 1 ppm-years.

Another finding in the scientific literature that is of direct interest to the current risk characterization is that of the relationship between peak exposure concentrations in



addition to cumulative lifetime exposure as a driver for leukemogenesis. Several authors have noted that in addition to a significant cumulative exposure ranging from 50 to greater than 200 ppm-years, an extended period of peak exposure must also be experienced in order for leukemogenesis to occur. Schnatter et al. 1996b found that leukemia cases were associated with extended exposures of 20 - 25 ppm using minimal exposure estimates, but potentially as high as 50-60 ppm using higher exposure estimates in addition to significant cumulative exposure (127). Collins et al. 2003 noted that there was no indication of risk from the low levels of cumulative exposure experienced by their cohort, but that increased risk could be attributed to those who were exposed to 100 ppm for 40 days or more (124). The maximum benzene level recorded in the State of Florida from 2003 to 2006, was 134.4 μ g/m³ (0.042 ppm) and can be found in Table 3 for monitoring site 102 in Duval County. When comparing these peak levels of exposure to those found in occupational settings that may be required to initiate, or otherwise drive leukemogenesis, it is clear that this potential mechanism for leukemogenesis does not come into play in terms of the ambient environmental exposures reported in this research.

4.3 Statistical Considerations for the Method Detection Limit

As is indicated in Table 7, the alternative methods of assigning values below the MDL did produce statistically different mean values for all monitoring sites in Broward County. This indicates that a considerable number of values within those data sets were reported as being under the method detection limit. The meaningfulness of this finding can be interpreted by examining the results of the risk



analysis and cumulative exposure analysis between these three data treatment methods.

In Table 19, the risk values produced for each monitoring site in Broward County are shown for all three methods of assigning values. The results for all sites, and all methods, are homogenous in the following: all methods produce risk values that are in excess of the 1 x 10^{-6} acceptable risk as indicated by the FLDEP. In fact, the differences in probabilities fall on the order of minutia, the largest difference occurring in the data from Site 5005 where the largest estimate of risk (assigning the MDL) equals 6.00×10^{-6} and the lowest estimate of risk (assigning the MDL/2) equals 5.80×10^{-6} . This represents a 0.2 millionth increase in risk using the more conservative method. In Table 25, the cumulative exposure values for all monitoring sites in Broward Country are shown. As values have been rounded to the nearest hundredth, no discernable difference is seen in the calculation of cumulative exposure, regardless as to which method has been used.

In Table 8 and Table 10, the t-test comparisons are shown for Dade County and Orange County, respectively. These results indicate that no statistically significant difference on the outcomes was produced regardless of what method of assigning values was used.

Tables 9, 10, and 12 show the t-test comparisons for Duval, Hillsborough, and Pinellas Counties, respectively. As no values below the method detection limit were reported for any monitoring sites in these counties, no statistical comparisons could



be made for methodological differences, and obviously, it can be said that values under the method detection limit had no influence in the risk analysis or cumulative exposure analysis for these any of these county's monitoring sites.

4.4 Study Limitations

A primary criticism of the current study may be the generalizability of the exposure assessment. Unfortunately, air toxics monitoring at this time is very limited, to the extent that few counties have active monitoring sites, and those that do, have very few monitors. While the ability to perform exposure and risk calculations based on actual sampling data has the advantage of using a validated methodology to enumerate airborne benezene concentrations, emissions modeling has the advantage of estimating exposures in locations that are not monitored. So with the data used in this dissertation, it is not possible assert that there are no locations within the State of Florida that are polluted with higher concentrations of benzene than are represented in this study. However, an examination of the monitor locations and the proximity of potential emission sources would indicate that the monitoring data used in this study represents an accurate cross section of typical ambient exposures in populated areas, with monitor locations ranging from more rural locations to more industrial locations, several within two miles of some of the largest benzene emission sources in their respective county. Indeed, when examining the monitor location maps (Figures 2-7) we find that the highest measured ambient levels are found in Duval County. Several of the Duval County monitors are located in dense Commercial/Industrial areas, and are consequently subjected to the benzene emissions from these point source



75

www.manaraa.com

polluters. As well, most monitors are located near major roadways and highways, whose fugitive emissions from automobiles contribute significantly to the ambient levels of benzene.

Likewise, when we examine the lowest monitored levels, they are found in rural areas, such as Site 3002 in Hillsborough County (Figure 4) and in residential areas such as Site 5005 in Broward County, which are further removed from both fugitive and point source benzene emissions. While it is fair to say the exposure assessment performed in this study is not comprehensive, the results should provide a reasonable description of the exposure intensity for a large proportion of the general public.

It has been noted that Duval County uses a different sampling methodology than all other Florida Counties. At the same time, the results indicate Duval County measured the highest maximum levels, the highest mean levels, and maintained the largest variance in measurements of any county. Several Duval monitoring sites measured peak levels, mean levels, and standard deviations over an order of magnitude higher than sites in other counties (Table 3). A potential cause of these differences would be the shorter sample times (3 and 4 hour samples) sometimes used by Duval county. If samples are taken during peak emissions times for a 3 hour period, it would potentially overestimate the mean concentrations at that site. This is not clear evidence that the Duval County measurements are erroneous, and the higher mean levels may be explained by greater industrial and interstate highway density within that county; however the extreme variance found within the Duval County



may be indicative of poor sampling methodology that results in an over estimation of exposure. Even if this is the case, however, it does not affect the fundamental conclusions of this research.

All research is subject to limitations, the current research being no exception. However, the limiting factors in this research are not sufficient to warrant a rejection of the primary conclusions drawn from the study results.



Chapter 5.0: Conclusions

This investigation used historic airborne monitoring data from six counties in the State of Florida to characterize the cancer risk from airborne benzene concentrations used current Federal and State regulatory risk characterization methodologies, and a comparative risk analysis based on occupational epidemiologic evidence. Airborne benzene concentrations were collected from 23 air toxics monitoring stations in Broward, Duval, Orange, Miami-Dade, Hillsborough, and Pinellas counties during the years 2003-2006. Using the risk calculation methodology found in the EPA and the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FLDEP) guidelines, the resulting cancer risk estimates ranged from 4.37×10^{-6} to 8.56×10^{-5} , which exceed the FLDEP's acceptable cancer risk level of 1×10^{-6} for all monitoring sites. The cumulative lifetime exposures were calculated in ppm-years, by site, and ranged from 0.036 - 0.702 ppm-years. A comparative analysis with available epidemiological literature revealed that the association between benzene exposure and cancer risk is related to cumulative exposure clearly in excess of 1 ppm-years, with a threshold of carcinogenesis potentially in excess of 50 ppm-years. The results of this investigation indicate that it is unreasonable to expect additional cancer cases in Florida residents due to measured ambient airborne benzene levels, despite the fact that all regulatory risk calculations exceed acceptable cancer risk levels in the State of Florida.



The implications of these results are highly relevant to contemporary practices of risk assessment and risk communication in terms of the economic consequences as well as the impact on public perception of risk from regulatory risk assessments. The FLDEP utilizes the same regulatory risk assessment methods found in this research to determine remediation levels for soil contaminated with benzene. The unit risk values used to analyze risk from soil intake or water intake resulting from contaminated soil is derived from the same cancer slope factor used for determining inhalation risk, a product of the linearized multi-stage model. Consequently, risk values for those two media have the same validity (or rather lack of validity) as those calculated for airborne exposures.

Gasoline fuel stations are common targets of soil remediation in Florida due to benzene contamination resulting in risk values above $1 \ge 10^{-6}$ for either soil or water intake. It has been reported that the typical gas station site costs \$97,000 for soil treatment, with a range in costs from \$22,000 to \$260,000 (129). This money is spent under the assumption that by remediating the contaminated soil, a significant reduction to public health risk will be achieved. The results of the current research indicate that this is clearly not the case in any instance in which the soil or water benzene concentration results in a risk 1 to 2 magnitudes of order over the allowable limit using the regulatory risk analysis methodology. Under these circumstances, not only are economic resources essentially wasted, but over the course of 26 - 60months (the typical remediation period) needless amounts of fuel is consumed, and needless amounts of combustant pollution is produced during this process (129).



Communicating health risk to the general populace is a significant responsibility held by researchers and regulators alike. Is it a responsible act to communicate to the public trust that, essentially, the air they breathe may be putting their health at risk? By using the USEPA and FLDEP specified methods and the linearized multistage model to "quantify" risk, we are essentially communicating to the public that not only does every molecule of benzene in the air pose some calculable amount of risk to their health, but further, that the amount of benzene present exceeds the amount of risk we, as researchers and regulators charged with serving the public trust, deem acceptable. Clearly, this is not a responsible means of presenting risk and the current research illustrates the inherent fallacy in using the current regulatory method to assess the health risk of low level carcinogen exposures in the State of Florida.



REFERENCES

1. Greenburg, L. 1926 Benzol poisoning as an industrial hazard VI. Intensive study of selected industries with respect to factory conditions and pollution of the atmosphere by benzol. Public Health Rep. 41: 1516-1539.

2. Hamilton, A. 1929 Industrial Poisons in the United States. MacMillan, New York,

3. Hamilton, A.1931 Benzene (benzol) poisoning: general review. Arch. Pathol. 11: 601-637.

4. Goldstein, B. D. 1988 Benzene toxicity. Occup. Med. State Art Rev. 3(3): 541-554.

5. Greenburg, L., Mayers, M. R., Goldwater, L., and Smith, A. R. 1939 Benzene (benzol) poisoning in the rotogravure printing industry in New York City. J. Ind. Hyg. Toxicol. 23: 395-420.

6. Goldwater, L. J. 1941 Disturbances in the blood following exposure to benzol. J. Lab. Clin. Med. 26: 957-973.

7. Schnatter, R.; Rosamilia, K.; Wojcik, N. 2005. Review of the literature on benzene exposure and leukemia subtypes. Chemico-Biological Interactions 153–154:9–21

8. Goldstein, B. 1977 D. Hepatotoxicity in humans. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health (suppl.) 2: 69-105.

9. Vigliani, E. C. 1976 Leukemia associated with benzene. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 271: 143-151.

10. Aksoy, M. 1980 Different types of malignancies due to occupational exposure to benzene: a review of recent observations in Tbrkey. Environ. Res. 23: 181-190 (1980).

11. Infante, P. F., Rinsky, R. A., Waggoner, L. R., and Young, R. J. 1977 Leukemia in benzene workers. Lancet 2:76-78.

12. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) 2005. Toxicological Profile for Benzene U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Public Health Service.



13. G. Saita, 1945 Mielosi aplastica e successiva mielosi leucemica, leucipenica, provocata da benzolo, Med. Lav. 36:143–158.

14. E. Browning. 1965 Toxicity Metabolism of Industrial Solvents, Elsevier Publishing Co., New York.

15. Goguel, A. Cavigneaux, J. Bernard, 1967. Les leucemies benzeniques de la region parisienne entre 1950 et 1967, Nouv. Rev. Fr. Hematol. 7:465–480.

16. Girard, L. Revol. 1970 La frequence d'une exposition benzenique au cours des hemopathies graves, Nouv, Rev. Fr. Hematol. 10:477–484.

17. Aksoy, K. Din Col, S. Erdem, G. Din Col, 1972. Acute leukemia due to chronic exposure to benzene, Am. J. Med. 52:160–166.

18. E.C. Vigliani, G. Saita. 1964. Benzene and leukemia, N. Engl. J. Med. 271:872–876.

19. M. Aksoy, S. Erdem, G. Din Col. 1974. Leukemia in shoe-workers exposed chronically to benzene, Blood 44:837–841.

20. Wallace, L. 1988. Major sources of exposure to benzene and other volatile organic chemicals. Risk Anal. 10(1): 59-64.

21. Wallace, L. A. 1989. Major sources of benzene exposure. Environ. Health Perspect. 82: 165-169.

22. Drew RT, Fouts JR. 1974. The lack of effects of pretreatment with phenobarbital and chlorpromazine on the acute toxicity of benzene in rats. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 27:183-193.

23. Smyth HF, Carpenter CP, Weil CS, et al. 1962. Range-finding toxicity data: List VI. Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 23:95-107.

24. Green JD, Snyder CA, LoBue J, et al. 1981. Acute and chronic dose/response effect of benzene inhalation on the peripheral blood, bone marrow, and spleen cell of CD-1 male mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 59:204-214.

25. Flury F. 1928. II. Toxicities in modern industry. IIa. Pharmacologicaltoxicological aspects of intoxicants in modern industry. Arch Exp Pathol Pharmakol 138:65-82.

26. Avis SP, Hutton CJ. 1993. Acute benzene poisoning: A report of three fatalities. J Forensic Sci 38(3):599-602.



27. Winek CL, Collom WD. 1971. Benzene and toluene fatalities. J Occup Med 13:259-261.

28. Winek CL, Collom WD, Wecht CH. 1967. Fatal benzene exposure by glue sniffing. Lancet (March 25):683.

29. Hamilton A. 1922. The growing menace of benzene (benzol) poisoning in American industry. J Am Med Assoc 78:627-630.

30. Midzenski MA, McDiarmid MA, Rothman N, et al. 1992. Acute high dose exposure to benzene in shipyard workers. Am J Ind Med 22:553-565.

31. Yin S, Li G, Hu Y, et al. 1987. Symptoms and signs of workers exposed to benzene, toluene or the combination. Ind Health 25:113-130.

32. Cronin HJ. 1924. Benzol poisoning in the rubber industry. Boston Medical and Science Journal 191:1164-1166.

33. Greenburg L. 1926. Benzol poisoning as an industrial hazard. Public Health Reports 41:1357-1375.

34. Tauber J. 1970. Instant benzol death. J Occup Med 12:91-92.

35. Baslo A, Aksoy M. 1982. Neurological abnormalities in chronic benzene poisoning: A study of six patients with aplastic anemia and two with preleukemia. Environ Res 27:457-465.

36. Mukhametova IM, Vozovaya MA. 1972. Reproductive power and the incidence of gynecological affections in female workers exposed to the combined effect of benzene and chlorinated hydrocarbons. Gig Tr Prof Zabol 16:6-9.

37. Vara P, Kinnunen O. 1946. Benzene toxicity as a gynecologic problem. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 26:433-452.

38. Michon S. 1965. [Disturbances of menstruation in women working in an atmosphere polluted with aromatic hydrocarbons.] Pol Tyg Lek 20:1648-1649.

39. Aksoy M. 1980. Different types of malignancies due to occupational exposure to benzene: A review of recent observations in Turkey. Environ Res 23:181-190.

40. Aksoy M, Erdem S, Dincol G. 1974. Leukemia in shoe-workers exposed chronically to benzene. Blood 44:837-841.



41. USEPA. 1995. Federal standards for marine tank vessel loading operations and national emission standards for hazardous air pollutants for marine tank vessel loading operations. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Fed Reg 60:48388.

42. Hayes, RB, Yin SN, Dosemeci M, et al. 1997. Benzene and the dose-related incidence of hematologic neoplasms in China. J Natl Cancer Inst 89(14):1065-1071.

43. IARC. 1982. IARC monographs on the evaluation of the carcinogenic risk of chemicals to humans. Vol. 29: Some industrial chemical and dyestuffs. Benzene. Lyon, France: World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer, 93-148.

44. IARC. 1987. IARC monographs on the evaluation of carcinogenic risks to humans. Overall evaluations of carcinogenicity: An updating of IARC Monographs Volumes 1 to 42. Suppl 7. Lyons, France: World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer, 38-74.

45. Rinsky, RA; Smith, AB; Horning, R; et al. 1987. Benzene and leukemia: an epidemiologic risk assessment. N Engl J Med 316:1044-1050

46. Rinsky RA, Hornung RW, Silver SR, et al. 2002. Benzene exposure and hematopoietic mortality: A long-term epidemiologic risk assessment. Am J Ind Med 42(6):474-480.

47. Lan Q, Zhang L, Li G, et al. 2004a. Hematotoxicity in workers exposed to low levels of benzene. Science 306:1774-1776.

48. Lan Q, Zhang L, Li G, et al. 2004b. Hematotoxicity in workers exposed to low levels of benzene: Supporting online material. Science 306:1774-1776.

49. USEPA 2007 U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Integrated Risk Information System. Benzene. http://www.epa.gov/iris/subst/0276.htm

50. Yin SN, Li Q, Liu Y, et al. 1987. Occupational exposure to benzene in China. Br J Ind Med 44:192-195.

51. Aksoy M, Dincol K, Akgun T, et al. 1971. Haematological effects of chronic benzene poisoning in 217 workers. Br J Ind Med 28:296-302.

52. Aksoy M, Dincol K, Erdem S, et al. 1972. Details of blood changes in 32 patients with pancytopenia associated with long-term exposure to benzene. Br J Ind Med 29:56-64.



53. Dosemeci M, Yin SN, Linet M, et al. 1996. Indirect validation of benzene exposure assessment by association with benzene poisoning. Environ Health Perspect 104:1343-1347.

54. Collins JJ, Conner P, Friedlander BR, et al. 1991. A study of the hematologic effects of chronic low level exposure to benzene. J Occup Med 33(5):619-626.

55. Collins JJ, Ireland BK, Easterday PA, et al. 1997. Evaluation of lymphopenia among workers with low level benzene exposure and the utility of routine data collection. J Occup Environ Med 39(3):232-237.

56. Tsai SP, Wen CP, Weiss NS, et al. 1983. Retrospective mortality and medical surveillance studies of workers in benzene areas of refineries. J Occup Med 25:685-692.

57. Vogel E, Günther H. 1967. Benzene oxide-oxepin valence tautomerism. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 6(5):385-476.

58. Lindstrom AB, Yeowell-O'Connell K, Waidyanatha S, et al. 1997. Measurement of benzene oxide in the blood of rats following administration of benzene. Carcinogenesis 18(8):1637-1641.

59. Parke DV, Williams RT. 1953. Studies in detoxication 49. The metabolism of benzene containing 14C1 benzene. Biochem J 54:231-238.

60. Jerina D, Daly J, Witkop B, et al. 1968. Role of arene oxide-oxepin system in the metabolism of aromatic substances. I. In vitro conversion of benzene oxide to a premercapturic acid and a dihydrodiol. Arch Biochem Biophys 128:176-183.

61. Nebert DW, Roe AL, Vandale SE, et al. 2002. NAD(P)H:quinone oxidoreductase (NQO1) polymorphism, exposure to benzene, and predisposition to disease: A huGE review. Genet Med 4(2):62-70.

62. Snyder R, Chepiga T, Yang CS, et al. 1993a. Benzene metabolism by reconstituted cytochromes P450, 2B1, and 2E1 and its modulation by cytochrome b5, microsomal epoxide hydrolase, and glutathione transferases: Evidence for an important role of microsomal epoxide hydrolase in the formation of hydroquinone. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 122(2):172-181.

63. Snyder R, Witz G, Goldstein BD. 1993b. The toxicology of benzene. Environ Health Perspect 100:293-306.

64. Sabourin PJ, Bechtold WE, Griffith WC, et al. 1989. Effect of exposure concentration, exposure rate, and route of administration on metabolism of benzene by F344 rats and B6C3F1 mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 99:421-444.



65. Wells MS, Nerland DE. 1991. Hematotoxicity and concentration-dependent conjugation of phenol in mice following inhalation exposure to benzene. Toxicol Lett 56(1-2):159-166.

66. Schrenk D, Bock KW. 1990. Metabolism of benzene in rat hepatocytes. Influence of inducers on phenol glucuronidation. Drug Metab Dispos 18(5):720-725.

67. Bleasdale C, Kennedy G, MacGregor JO, et al. 1996. Chemistry of muconaldehydes of possible relevance to the toxicology of benzene. Environ Health Perspect 104(Suppl 6):1201-1209.

68. Ross D. 2000. The role of metabolism and specific metabolites in benzeneinduced toxicity: Evidence and issues. J Toxicol Environ Health A 61(5-6):357-372.

69. Witz G, Kirley TA, Maniara WM, et al. 1990b. The metabolism of benzene to muconic acid, a potential biological marker of benzene exposure. Biol React Intermed IV 283:613-618.

70. Witz G, Maniara W, Mylavarapu V, et al. 1990c. Comparative metabolism of benzene and trans, trans-muconaldehyde to trans, trans-muconic acid in DBA/2N and C57BL/6 mice. Biochem Pharmacol 40:1275-1280.

71. Witz G, Zhang Z, Goldstein BD. 1996. Reactive ring-opened aldehyde metabolites in benzene toxicity. Environ Health Perspect 104(Suppl 6):1195-1199.

72. Sabourin PJ, Bechtold WE, Birnbaum LS, et al. 1988. Differences in the metabolism and disposition of inhaled [3H]benzene by F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 94:128-140.

73. Schafer F, Schad H, Weber L. 1993. Determination of phenylmercapturic acid in urine of benzeneexposed BDF-1 mice. J Chromatog 620:239-242.

74. Schlosser PM, Bond JA, Medinsky MA. 1993. Benzene and phenol metabolism by mouse and rat liver microsomes. Carcinogenesis 14:2477-2486.

75. Schrenk D, Ingelman-Sundberg M, Bock KW. 1992. Influence of P-4502E1 induction on benzene metabolism in rat hepatocytes and on biliary metabolite excretion. Drug Metab Dispos 20(2):137-141.

76. van Sittert NJ, Boogaard PJ, Beulink GD. 1993. Application of the urinary Sphenylmercapturic acid test as a biomarker for low levels of exposure to benzene in industry. Br J Ind Med 50(5):460-469.



77. Valentine JL, Lee SS, Seaton MJ, et al. 1996a. Reduction of benzene metabolism and toxicity in mice that lack CYP2E1 expression. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 141(1):205-213.

78. Valentine JL, Seaton MJ, Asgharian B. 1996b. Benzene metabolism and toxicity in transgenic CYP2E1 knockout mice. Toxicologist 30(1):73.

79. Andrews LS, Lee EW, Witmer CM, et al. 1977. Effects of toluene on metabolism, disposition, and hematopoietic toxicity of [3H] benzene. Biochem Pharmacol 26:293-300.

80. Gill DP, Kempen RR, Nash JB, et al. 1979. Modifications of benzene myelotoxicity and metabolism by phenobarbital, SKF-525A and 3-methylcholanthrene. Life Sci 25:1633-1640.

81. Ikeda M, Ohtsuji H, Imamura T. 1972. In vivo suppression of benzene and styrene oxidation by co-administered toluene in rats and effects of phenobarbital. Xenobiotica 2:101-106.

82. Tuo J, Loft S, Thomsen MS, et al. 1996. Benzene-induced genotoxicity in mice in vivo detection by the alkaline comet assay: Reduction by CYP2E21 inhibition. Mutat Res 368(3-4):213-219.

83. Bechtold WE, Sun JD, Birnbaum LS, et al. 1992a. S-phenylcysteine formation in hemoglobin as a biological exposure index to benzene. Arch Toxicol 66(5):303-309.

84. Bechtold WE, Willis JK, Sun JD, et al. 1992b. Biological markers of exposure to benzene: Sphenylcysteine in albumin. Carcinogenesis 13(7):1217-1220.

85. Norpoth K, Stuker W, Krewet E, et al. 1988. Biomonitoring of benzene exposure by trace analyses of phenylguanine. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 60:163-168.

86. Rappaport SM, McDonald TA, Yeowell-O-Connell K. 1996. The use of protein adducts to investigate the disposition of reactive metabolites of benzene. Environ Health Perspect 104:1235-1237.

87. Bechtold WE, Henderson RF. 1993. Biomarkers of human exposure to benzene. J Toxicol Environ Health 40:377-386.

88. Longacre SL, Kocsis JJ, Snyder R. 1981. Influence of strain differences in mice on the metabolism and toxicity of benzene. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 60:398-409.

89. Longacre SL, Kocsis JJ, Witmer CM, et al. 1981. Toxicological and biochemical effects of repeated administration of benzene in mice. J Toxicol Environ Health 7:223-237.



90. Sun JD, Medinsky MA, Birnbaum LS, et al. 1990. Benzene hemoglobin adducts in mice and rats: Characterization of formation and physiological modeling. Fundam Appl Toxicol 15:468-475.

91. Creek MR, Mani C, Vogel JS, et al. 1997. Tissue distribution and macromolecular binding of extremely low doses of [14C]-benzene in B6C3F1 mice. Carcinogenesis 18(12):2421-2427.

92. Smith MT. 1996a. Overview of benzene-induced aplastic anaemia. Eur J Haematol Suppl 60:107-110.

93. Smith MT. 1996b. The mechanism of benzene-induced leukemia: A hypothesis and speculations on the causes of leukemia. Environ Health Perspect 104:1219-1225.

94. Schwartz CS, Snyder R, Kalf GF. 1985. The inhibition of mitochondrial DNA replication in vitro by the metabolites of benzene, hydroquinone and p-benzoquinone. Chem Biol Interact 53(3):327-350.

95. Li Q, Aubrey MT, Christian T, et al. 1997. Differential inhibition of DNA synthesis in human T cells by the cigarette tar components hydroquinone and catechol. Fundam Appl Toxicol 38(2):158-165.

96. Li Q, Kasten-Jolly J, Yen Y, et al. 1998. Reversal of hydroquinone-mediated suppression of T cell proliferation by transfection of the M2 subunit of ribonucleotide reductase. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 150(1):154-157.

97. Rushmore T, Snyder R, Kalf G. 1984. Covalent binding of benzene and its metabolites to DNA in rabbit bone marrow mitochondria in vitro. Chem Biol Interact 49:133-154.

98. Sabourin PJ, Chen BT, Lucier G, et al. 1987. Effect of dose on the absorption and excretion of 14C benzene administered orally or by inhalation in rats and mice. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 87:325-336.

99. Sabourin PJ, Muggenburg BA, Couch RC, et al. 1992. Metabolism of 14C benzene by cynomolgus monkeys and chimpanzees. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 114(2):277-284.

100. Henderson RF, Sabourin PJ, Medinsky MA, et al. 1992. Benzene dosimetry in experimental animals: Relevance for risk assessment. In: D'Amato R, Slaga TJ, Farland WH, et al., eds. Relevance of animal studies to the evaluation of human cancer risk. New York, NY: Wiley-Liss Inc., 93-105.



101. USEPA 2005 Toxic Release Inventory Query: Benzene releases in the State of Florida. <u>http://www.epa.gov/triexplorer/statefactsheet.htm</u>

102. Brief RS, Lynch J, Bernath T, et al. 1980. Benzene in the workplace. Am Ind Hyg Assoc J 41:616- 623.

103. Graedel TE. 1978. Chemical compounds in the atmosphere. New York, NY: Academic Press, 105107.

104. Edgerton SA, Shah JJ. 1992. Assessing total exposures to gasoline vapor using the source exposure model. J Expos Anal Environ Epidemiol 2(1):109-115.

105. Brunnemann KD, Kagan MR, Cox JE, et al. 1990. Analysis of 1,3-butadiene and other selected gas phase components in cigarette mainstream and sidestream smoke by gas chromatography-mass selective detection. Carcinogenesis 11:1863-1868.

106. Gaffney JS, Levin SZ. 1979. Predicting gas phase organic molecule reaction rates using linear freeenergy correlations: I. O (3P) and OH addition and abstraction reactions. Int J Chem Kinet 11:1197- 1209.

107. Lyman WJ. 1982. Atmospheric residence time. In: Lyman WJ, Reehl WF, Rosenblatt DH, eds. Handbook of chemical property estimation methods: Environmental behavior of organic compounds. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.

108. USEPA 2007a AQS (Air Quality Systems). U.S. Environmental Protection Agency AQS Codes and Descriptions. Technology Transfer Network (TTN)

109. USEPA 2007b Classification Codes. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Classification Codes: CORE_HAPS. Technology Transfer Network (TTN). http://www.epa.gov/ttn/airs/airsaqs/manuals/1Aug07%20Valid%20Protocols%20Sam pl%20Meth%20-%20CORE_HAPS.xls

110. USEPA 1986. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Guidelines for carcinogen risk assessment, Fed. Reg. 51.

111. FLDEP 2005 Florida Department of Environmental Protection. Comparison of Toxicity Values Table.

http://www.dep.state.fl.us/waste/quick_topics/publications/wc/brownfields/CompTables/ComparisonofToxicityValues.pdf

112. USEPA 2003. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Region/ORD Workshop on Inhalation Risk Assessment: A Superfund Focus. ORD Regional Science Program



113. Paustenbach, D; Bass, R; Price, P. (1993) Benzene toxicity and risk assessment, 1972-1992: implications for future regulation. Environ Health Perspect 101 (Suppl 6):177-200.

114. Crump, KS; Allen, BC. (1984) Quantitative estimates of risk of leukemia from occupational exposure to benzene. Prepared for the Occupational Safety and Health Administration by Science Research Systems, Inc., Ruston, LA. Unpublished

115. Rinsky, RA; Young, RJ; Smith, AB. (1981) Leukemia in benzene workers. Am J Ind Med 2:217-245.

116. Crump, KS. (1994) Risk of benzene-induced leukemia: a sensitivity analysis of the Pliofilm cohort with additional follow-up and new exposure estimates. J Toxicol Environ Health 42:219-242.

117. Wong, Otto. 1995. Risk of acute myeloid leukaemia and multiple myeloma in workers exposed to benzene. Occupational & Environmental Medicine. 52(6):380-384

118. Paxton, Mary Burr. 1996. Leukemia Risk Associated with Benzene Exposure in the Pliofilm Cohort. Environ Health Perspect 1 04(Suppl 6):1431-1436

119. Wong, O.; Gerhard 1995. Cell-Type-Specific Leukemia Analyses in a Combined Cohort of More Than 208,000 Petroleum Workers in the United States and the United Kingdom, 1937. Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology. 21:307-321

120. Rushton, Lesley; Romaniuk, Helena. 1997. A case-control study to investigate the risk of leukaemia associated with exposure to benzene in petroleum marketing and distribution workers in the United Kingdom. Occupational & Environmental Medicine. 54(3):152-166

121. Guenel, P.; Imbernon, E.; Chevalier, A.; Crinquand-Calastreng, A.; Goldberg, M. 2002. Leukemia in Relation to Occupational Exposures to Benzene and Other Agents: A Case- Control Study NestedinaCohortofGasandElectricUtilityWorkers. American Journal Of Industrial Medicine 42:87–97

122. Glass, D.; Gray, C.; Jolley, D.; Gibbons, C.; Sim, M. 2006. The Health Watch Case–Control Study of Leukemia and Benzene: The Story So Far. Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1076: 80–89

123. Glass, D.; Gray, C.; Jolley, D.; Gibbons, C.; Sim, M.; Fritschi, Lin.; Adams, G.; Bisby, J.; Manuell, R. 2003. Leukemia Risk Associated With Low-Level Benzene Exposure. Epidemiology 2003;14: 569–577



124. Collins, J.; Ireland, B.; Buckley, C.; Shepperly, D. 2003. Lymphohaematopoeitic cancer mortality among workers with benzene exposure. Occup Environ Med 60:676–679

125. Seniori-Costantini, A.; Quinn, M.: Consonni, D.; Zappa, M. 2003. Exposure to benzene and risk of leukemia among shoe factory workers. Scand J Work Environ Health 29(1):51-59

126. Swaen et al. 2005. Leukemia Risk in Caprolactam Workers Exposed to Benzene. Ann Epidemiol15:21–28.

127. Schnatter AR, Armstrong TW, Thompson LS, Nicolich MJ, Katz AM, Huebner WW, Pearlman ED. 1996. The relationship between low-level benzene exposure and leukemia in Canadian petroleum distribution workers. Environ Health Perspect. 104 Suppl 6:1375-9

128. Hornung RW, Reed DL. 1990. Estimation of average concentration in the presence of nondetectable values. Appl Occup Environ Hyg 5:46-51.

129. Keller, Fernandez, Hitz, Kun, Peterson. 1999. An integral cost-benefit analysis of gasoline formulations meeting California Phase II Reformulated Gasoline requirements. Bren School of Environmental Science and Management, UCSB, Santa Barbara, CA 5(3):1-56



APPENDIX A

Summary of Epidemiological Studies used for Comparative Analysis

Study	Measure of Association	NOAEL	LOAEL	Comments on Utility for Causal Inference
Rinsky et al. 1987	SMR	40-200 ppm- years	200- 400 ppm- years	*High number of actual exposure measurements (considered the best exposure assessment among similar studies); Specific exposure\disease outcomes; Significant measures of association; Clear dose-response; Consistent results compared to similar studies. Suitable evidence for causal inference.



Paxton 1996	SMR	>5-50 ppm- years	>50- 500	*Same cohort as Rinsky et al. 1987 with updated exposure matrices; more refined exposure categories to assess lower level exposures; Specific exposure\disease outcomes; Significant measures of association; Clear dose-response; Consistent results compared to similar studies; Most conservative measures of association using the best exposure assessment; This study is the basis for the estimated threshold of benzene induced leukemogenesis being in excess of 50 ppm-years. Suitable evidence for causal inference.
Wong and Gerhard 1995	SMR	40-200 ppm- years	200- 400 ppm- years	*High number of actual exposure measurements; Specific exposure\disease outcomes (cell specific analysis); Significant measures of association; Clear


				dose-response; Consistent results compared to similar studies. Suitable evidence for causal inference.
Seniori et al. 2003	SMR	100- 199 ppm- years	>200 ppm- years	*High number of actual exposure measurements; Specific exposure\disease outcomes; Significant measures of association; Clear dose-response; Consistent results compared to similar studies. Suitable evidence for causal inference.
Wong et al. 1995	SMR	40-200 ppm- years	200- 400 ppm- years	*High number of actual exposure measurements; Specific exposure\disease outcomes (cell specific analysis); Significant measures of association; Clear dose-response; Consistent results compared to similar studies. Suitable evidence for causal inference.



Hayes et al. 1997	RR	<40 ppm- years	40-99 ppm- years	*Large sample size; Various incomparable working environments and exposures applied to all workers; Exposure assessment somewhat speculative; Lacks specificity. Less suitable for causal inference.
Collins et al. 2003	SMR	>6 ppm- years	N/A	*Large sample size; Examines low level exposures; Less actual measured exposures in exposure matrix; Failed to find an association between benzene exposure and leukemogenesis. Less suitable for causal inference.
Schnatter et al. 1996	OR	20- 219.8 ppm- years	N/A	*Largely speculative exposure assessment; Smaller sample size; Relatively large statistical variance; Uncontrolled confounders; Less desirable case- control study design; No definitive dose response; Failed to find an association



				between benzene exposure and leukemogenesis. Unsuitable for causal inference.
Glass et al. 2006	OR	Not Report ed	>8 ppm- years	*Largely speculative exposure assessment; Smaller sample size; Relatively large statistical variance; Uncontrolled confounders; Less desirable case- control study design; No definitive dose response. Unsuitable for causal inference.
Glass et al. 2003	OR	>1-2 ppm- years	>2-4 ppm- years	*Largely speculative exposure assessment; Smaller sample size; Relatively large statistical variance; Uncontrolled confounders; Less desirable case- control study design; No definitive dose response. Unsuitable for causal inference.



Guenel et al. 2002	OR	>5.5 - <16.8 ppm- years	>16.8 ppm- years	*Largely speculative exposure assessment; Smaller sample size; Relatively large statistical variance; Uncontrolled confounders; Less desirable case- control study design; No definitive dose response; Failed to find a statistically significant association between benzene exposure and AML. Unsuitable for causal inference.
Rushton et al. 1997	OR	>45 ppm- years	N/A	*Largely speculative exposure assessment; Smaller sample size; Relatively large statistical variance; Uncontrolled confounders; Less desirable case- control study design; No definitive dose response; Failed to find an association between benzene exposure and leukemogenesis. Unsuitable for



				causal inference.
Swaen et al. 2005	SMR	401.5 ppm- years	N/A	*Largely speculative exposure assessment; Smaller sample size; Relatively large statistical variance; Uncontrolled confounders; Less desirable case- control study design; No definitive dose response; Failed to find an association between benzene exposure and leukemogenesis. Unsuitable for causal inference



ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Mr. Giffe Thomas Johnson is a graduate of Rollins College with a B.A. in Biology (1999) and a MPH in Epidemiology from the College of Public Health at the University of South Florida (2005). In 2005, Mr. Johnson was accepted into the Ph.D. program in Public Health at the University of South Florida by the Department of Environmental and Occupational Health. His degree has focused primarily on toxicology, risk assessment and environmental/occupational health. Mr. Johnson has participated in research designed to elucidate mechanisms of chemical-induced hepatotoxicity associated with industrial solvents, toxins and pharmacological agents, as well as aiding the Director of the Center for Environmental Occupational Risk Analysis and Management in daily operations. Additional positions held by Mr. Johnson included Primary Instructor and Graduate Teaching Assistant. He was involved with the teaching of graduate level risk assessment courses, in addition to undergraduate public health courses.

